Beyond Motivation: Job and Work Design for Development, Health, Ambidexterity, and More

Sharon K. Parker

The University of Western Australia, Crawley, Perth, Western Australia 6009, Australia; email: sharon.parker@uwa.edu.au

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2014. 65:661-91

First published online as a Review in Advance on September 6, 2013

The *Annual Review of Psychology* is online at http://psych.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115208

Copyright © 2014 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

Keywords

job design, autonomy, job enrichment, job characteristics, self-managing teams

Abstract

Much research shows it is possible to design motivating work, which has positive consequences for individuals and their organizations. This article reviews research that adopts this motivational perspective on work design, and it emphasizes that it is important to continue to refine motivational theories. In light of continued large numbers of poor-quality jobs, attention must also be given to influencing practice and policy to promote the effective implementation of enriched work designs. Nevertheless, current and future work-based challenges mean that designing work for motivation is necessary but insufficient. This review argues that work design can be a powerful vehicle for learning and development, for maintaining and enhancing employees' physical and mental health, and for achieving control and flexibility simultaneously (for example, in the form of ambidexterity); all these outcomes are important given the challenges in today's workplaces. The review concludes by suggesting methodological directions.

Contents	
INTRODUCTION	662
Definition and Brief History	663
PART 1: MOTIVATIONAL WORK DESIGN PERSPECTIVES	663
Established Motivational Perspectives: The Job Characteristics Model,	
Elaborations, and Group Work Design	663
Expanded Motivational Theories: Proactive, Prosocial, and Other Perspectives	667
Motivational Work Design in Practice	670
PART 2: EXPANDED WORK DESIGN PERSPECTIVES	671
Designing Work for Learning and Development	672
Designing Work for Mental and Physical Health	676
Designing Work for Control and Flexibility: Ambidexterity, Enabling	
Bureaucracy, and High-Reliability Organizing	680
METHODOLOGICAL DIRECTIONS	684
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	685

INTRODUCTION

Ten hours (a day) is a long time just doing this. . . . I've had three years in here and I'm like, I'm going to get the hell out.... It's just the most boring work you can do.

-Ford autoworker

I love my job.... I've learned so much.... I can talk with biochemists, software engineers, all these interesting people.... I love being independent, relying on myself.... I just do whatever works, it's exciting.

-Corporate headhunter

We see about a hundred injuries a year and I'm amazed there aren't more. The main causes are inexperience and repetition.... People work the same job all the time and they stop thinking.

—Slaughterhouse human resources director

These quotations, from a book in which Americans talk about their jobs (Bowe et al. 2000, pp. 38, 12, and 52, respectively), highlight the diverse outcomes one's work design can cause. Work design, or the content and organization of one's work tasks, activities, relationships, and responsibilities, has been linked to almost every end goal that is of concern in an organization—safety, performance, and innovation, to name a few. Work design also matters for individuals; it affects their sense of meaning, their health, and their development. On the global front, the importance of work design is exemplified by the International Labor Organization's Decent Work Agenda, which focuses not just on obtaining work for all but on ensuring quality work that provides "better prospects for personal development and freedom for people to express their concerns, organize and participate in the decisions that affect their lives" (http://www.ilo.org/global/topics/decent-work/lang-en/index.htm). On the theoretical front, Miner (2003) rated work design theory as one of the few theories in the field of organizational behavior that are simultaneously important, valid, and useful.

Despite its salience for practice and policy, and its sound theoretical underpinning, work design has not received the research attention that is warranted (Humphrey et al. 2007), especially given radical shifts in work organization (Grant & Parker 2009). As an example, work design has not been the focus of any previous Annual Reviews article. The goal of this article is thus,

unashamedly, to help promote work design research as a distinct area of psychological inquiry. The review has two parts. First, it discusses dominant motivational approaches to work design. Contemporary challenges mean that designing work for motivation is necessary but insufficient, so the second part of the review identifies three goals of work design that are central given enhanced complexity in many workplaces: work design for learning and development, work design for health and well-being, and work design for the dual outcomes of control and flexibility. In both parts, the focus of this review is on more recent research and new theoretical directions [for further advances, see also the special issue of the *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, with an introduction by Grant et al. (2010)]; for reviews of earlier work, the reader is referred to the online reference list (follow the Supplemental Material link from the Annual Reviews home page at http://www.annualreviews.org). In addition, this review uses the term work design instead of job design to reflect that the topic is concerned not only with employees' prescribed technical tasks within a fixed job but also with employee engagement in emergent, social, and self-initiated activities within flexible roles (Morgeson & Campion 2003, Parker & Wall 1998).

Definition and Brief History

Imagine designing the role of a police officer. Illustrative work design decisions include the following: Which activities should be grouped together to form a meaningful job? Which decisions should be made by officers and which by their supervisors? Should individual jobs be grouped together into a team? Can one build in routine tasks amid complex ones to ensure officers are not overwhelmed by demands? These decisions about the content and organization of officers' tasks, activities, relationships, and responsibilities will affect outcomes at multiple levels, including individual officers, such as how engaged they feel or their level of strain; the wider organization, such as whether the police service achieves its targets; and society, such as how effectively crime is detected and prevented.

Historically, interest in the topic of work design arose in response to the wide-scale adoption of scientific management principles in the design of early industrial jobs. A key principle is job simplification, in which mental work is allocated to the managers while workers perform only the manual work. The negative consequences of job simplification, such as turnover, strikes, and absenteeism, prompted interest in redesigning work. At the group level, the application of sociotechnical systems theory led to the design of autonomous work groups, which are still popular today. At the individual level, job rotation, job enlargement, and job enrichment emerged as motivational antidotes to simplified jobs; job enrichment is the most important of these approaches because of its emphasis on increasing employees' autonomy. The theory underpinning these and related work redesigns, and research regarding their effects, is discussed next.

PART 1: MOTIVATIONAL WORK DESIGN PERSPECTIVES

Unsurprisingly, given that work design emerged from studies of alienating and meaningless jobs, psychological research on the subject has motivation at its core (Campion 1988). The first section of Part 1 describes established motivational perspectives on work design. The second section reviews expanded motivational perspectives on work design. The third section discusses the embedding of motivational work design principles into policy and practice.

Established Motivational Perspectives: The Job Characteristics Model, Elaborations, and Group Work Design

The dominant motivational model of work design is the job characteristics model (JCM). This section reviews the JCM as well as elaborations to this model and its extension to groups.

Scientific management:

a theory of management focused on achieving efficiency by analyzing work and breaking it down into simplified tasks. Employees carry out the simplified tasks while managers make decisions and engage in mental work

Sociotechnical systems theory: the idea that the technical and social aspects of work should be jointly optimized when designing work

Autonomous work group: a group of interdependent members that have collective autonomy over day-to-day aspects of their work

Job rotation: rotating employees from one job to another job

Job enlargement: expanding the content of jobs to include additional tasks

Job enrichment: increasing employees' autonomy over the planning and execution of their own work

Supplemental Material

Job variety: the degree to which a job involves a variety of activities and uses a number of different skills

Job significance: the degree to which a job has a substantial impact on the lives or work of others

Job feedback: the degree to which a job incumbent obtains clear information about his or her effectiveness in performing the job

Job identity: the degree to which a job requires completion of a whole job, from beginning to end

Job autonomy: the degree to which a job provides discretion over daily work decisions, such as when and how to do

Job demands: aspects of jobs that require sustained and/or high levels of physical, mental, or emotional effort (e.g., time pressure, emotional demands)

Job characteristics model. Hackman & Oldham (1976) proposed in the JCM that work should be designed to have five core job characteristics (job variety, job autonomy, job feedback, job significance, and job identity), which engender three critical psychological states in individuals experiencing meaning, feeling responsible for outcomes, and understanding the results of their efforts. In turn, these psychological states were proposed to enhance employees' intrinsic motivation, job satisfaction, and performance, while reducing turnover. Although some more specific propositions of the ICM have not been consistently supported (such as the idea that individuals with a high need for growth will benefit most from the core job characteristics), the central proposition that work characteristics affect attitudinal outcomes has been well established in several meta-analysis. The most recent meta-analysis (Humphrey et al. 2007), of 259 studies, showed that all or most of the five core work characteristics relate to the JCM outcomes of job satisfaction, growth satisfaction, and internal work motivation, as well as to other outcomes such as organizational commitment, coworker satisfaction, burnout, and role perceptions. In addition, experienced meaning was the key psychological state that mediated the relationship between job characteristics and outcomes. These meta-analytic findings—based mostly on studies with cross-sectional research designs—are supported by longitudinal and quasi-experimental studies showing positive effects of job enrichment on attitudes and affective reactions (see the review by Parker & Wall 1998). Longitudinal studies also show that low autonomy and low support increase absence, and that job enrichment can reduce employee turnover.

Meta-analyses show clear links between work characteristics and subjective job performance, although when objective job performance is considered, only job autonomy is important (Humphrey et al. 2007). Several quasi-experimental and longitudinal studies also show positive performance effects of motivating work characteristics, although a smaller set of other studies have failed to show performance effects (Kopelman 2006), which suggests that the relationship between enrichment and performance is moderated, as discussed in the next section.

An issue that has long dogged the JCM is the use of job incumbents' perceptions to assess job characteristics. For instance, critics have argued that individuals' perceptions of their job characteristics are constructions that arise from social influences, such as the attitudes of their peers. However, although social cues do affect perceptions of work characteristics, there is plenty of evidence that using perceptions to assess job characteristics is valid in most situations (see Daniels 2006, Morgeson & Campion 2003).

Elaborated job characteristics approaches. The JCM's core elements have been expanded. For example, the elaborated job characteristics model proposed the need to extend the core work characteristics, moderators, outcomes, mechanisms, and antecedents of work design (Parker et al. 2001; see also Morgeson & Humphrey 2008), as discussed below.

First, there are important job features beyond the JCM's five core job characteristics. Over the years, much attention has been given to social characteristics such as task interdependence (Langfred 2005). Further job characteristics have become salient as a result of changes in work organization. For example, the rise of dual working parents highlights the need to consider autonomy over working hours; the growth in service work identifies the need to consider emotional job demands; the rise of individuals working from home highlights the role of social contact during work; and changes in career structures bring to the fore opportunities for skill development. In their Work Design Questionnaire, Morgeson & Humphrey (2006) distinguished 21 job characteristics covering four categories: task motivation (i.e., the five JCM characteristics), knowledge motivation (e.g., problem-solving demands), social characteristics (e.g., social support), and contextual characteristics (e.g., work conditions). In Humphrey et al.'s (2007) meta-analysis, motivational work characteristics explained 34% of the variance in job satisfaction;

social and contextual characteristics explained a further 17% and 4%, respectively. Besides expanding what work characteristics are considered, it is important to consider interactions between them, such as the balance between individual autonomy and group autonomy (Langfred 2000).

A second extension is to consider outcomes of work design beyond those specified in the JCM. In some cases, the outcomes are extensions of established ones—for example, going beyond increased effort and productivity as the key indicators of performance to examine performance outcomes such as customer loyalty and employee creativity. In other cases, outcomes have been extended to reflect changes in the nature of work or the workforce. For example, the increasing number of employed women means it is important to consider how work design affects family functioning (see, e.g., Kelly et al. 2011), and interest in social responsibility raises questions about how poor-quality work might lead individuals to seek out enriching volunteer opportunities (Grant 2012a). Additional work design outcomes are further considered in Part 2 of this article (see also reviews such as Demerouti & Bakker 2011, Morgeson & Humphrey 2008).

Third, scholars have identified mechanisms by which work design might affect job attitudes and behaviors beyond the JCM's critical psychological states. Some of these expanded mechanisms are motivationally oriented, such as self-efficacy (Parker 1998) and psychological empowerment (Morgeson & Campion 2003). Other mechanisms are nonmotivational. For example, employees with autonomy can often respond to problems faster than specialists can (Wall & Jackson 1995), and they can often make better decisions than supervisors can because they can access unique information that is only available to those doing the work (Langfred & Moye 2004). Job enrichment can promote learning and more effective coping, mechanisms considered further in the second part of this review.

Fourth, scholars have considered an elaborated set of moderators of how work characteristics affect outcomes. When it comes to individual differences, the concept of fit suggests that which work characteristics are valued varies according to individual preferences, desires, and demographics. Individual differences do moderate work design effects, although these findings are rather inconsistent (Morgeson & Campion 2003). Moreover, there is no basis for expecting that any single individual difference variable will moderate all work characteristic—outcome relationships, because the processes underpinning these links vary according to the work characteristic and the outcome. A theoretical approach will help move this area forward, such as Raja & Johns's (2010) study that drew on trait activation theory (which predicts that people behaviorally express their traits in situations that cue those traits) to understand the link between personality, job scope, and performance. Several theoretical predictions remain untested, such as Fried et al.'s (2007) proposal that simplified jobs might not cause adverse effects early in one's career if a job is seen as a stepping stone for future enriched jobs.

The most consistent contextual moderator of work design is uncertainty. Job enrichment appears to most enhance performance when operational uncertainty is high rather than low (see Wall & Jackson 1995). This is probably because, in unpredictable situations, knowledge is incomplete and flexible responses are required, and autonomy facilitates both the speed and quality of decision making. Scholars have also argued that enriched work design is most effective when it aligns with organizational and human resource systems (Cordery & Parker 2007), a perspective that concurs with the high-performance work systems perspective that bundles of aligned practices enhance organizational performance (see, e.g., Combs et al. 2006). In contrast to these arguments, Morgeson et al. (2006) found that autonomous work groups are effective only when reward, feedback, and information systems are poor. Although studies have considered national cultural influences on work design, there is no clear overall picture of cultural effects (Erez 2010), which is a salient void in the context of globalization.

Interdependence:

the degree to which individuals need to work closely with others to carry out their roles

Social support: the provision of emotional or instrumental help, typically from a peer or supervisor

Empowerment (psychological): an individual's experience of meaning, impact, competence, and self-determination

Empowerment (structural):

structures, policies, and practices designed to delegate power and authority

A fifth elaboration of the JCM has been to consider individual and contextual factors that shape, influence, and/or constrain work characteristics. Regarding individual factors, job incumbents can proactively craft their own job designs (see Expanded Motivational Theories, below). Regarding contextual factors, variables such as institutional regimes, organizational design, leadership, occupational context, and organizational practices (e.g., structural empowerment, lean production, temporary employment, downsizing, teleworking) can directly affect or generate work characteristics or exert a cross-level influence on work characteristics (see Motivational Work Design in Practice, below). An implication of these findings is that work can be redesigned not only by direct manipulation of job characteristics but also, for example, by developing empowering leaders or by restructuring. A further implication is that work design should be proactively considered when new technologies and strategies are introduced (although, unfortunately, work design is often disregarded). Occupations can also shape or constrain work characteristics (Dierdorff & Morgeson 2013), and the relationship between broader practices and work design can be reciprocal, for example, a positive leader-member exchange relationship between a manager and the job incumbent might contribute to more enriched work that, in turn, reinforces and enhances the positive relationship between the manager and the job incumbent.

Altogether, the JCM has been expanded in useful ways. It can, and should, be expanded further to reflect changes in work in general (e.g., a growth in virtual work, changes in employment contracts, and an increase in service and knowledge work) and changes in the nature of the workforce (e.g., aging, more women, increased diversity as a result of migration patterns).

Group work design. Group work design is appropriate when individual roles are interdependent and there is a need for collective working. Sociotechnical systems principles were early influences on group work design. Scholars (see, e.g., Campion et al. 1993) extended these ideas, proposing input-process-output models of team effectiveness. Inputs include group-level work design, contextual influences, and group composition; processes include intermediary group states or attributes such as group norms; and outputs include team-level performance and team-member affective reactions. Subsequent team research expanded these models in various ways, although the work design characteristics focused on are still primarily group-level versions of the JCM, with the additional inclusion of interdependence.

Most attention has been given to group autonomy, which is when team members are allocated collective responsibility for their work. There is encouragingly consistent evidence across studies of autonomous work groups, team effectiveness, and team empowerment that group autonomy is associated with positive team member job attitudes and reactions, such as job satisfaction and organizational commitment (Maynard et al. 2012, Parker & Wall 1998). One dent in this positive picture is the question of whether team autonomy can operate as an insidious form of control. Barker's (1993, p. 432) ethnographic study showed that in self-managing teams, workers imposed values on themselves in an increasingly rigid way, such that initially enthusiastic participants became "strained and burdened." Such findings might not be generalizable. For example, Gaille (2013) reported for a large sample of UK workers that, although individual autonomy was more strongly correlated with well-being and satisfaction than participation in a semiautonomous work group was, the latter had no negative effect on well-being and had a positive effect on learning.

Just as for individual-level work design and performance, the story for performance and behavioral outcomes of group autonomy is more complex (Cohen & Bailey 1997). Reviews and meta-analyses identify positive performance and behavioral effects of group autonomy (see, e.g., Cohen & Bailey 1997), for example, via psychological empowerment (Maynard et al. 2012). However, at least a few rigorous studies have shown nonsignificant or mixed effects (see Parker & Wall 1998). Null effects might be partly explained by a mismatch between group autonomy and team member task interdependence: Group work does not make sense if team members have low task interdependence. Consistent with this premise, Langfred (2005) reported that teams with high task interdependence perform better with high levels of team autonomy, whereas low-interdependence teams perform better with high levels of individual autonomy. Likewise, a meta-analysis by Burke et al. (2006) showed that empowering leadership predicts team productivity most strongly when interdependence in the team is high rather than low.

Beyond interdependence, other moderators of group autonomy effects have been identified; for example, self-managing teams have more positive effects when team members are not isolated from external influences (Haas 2010), when task uncertainty is high (Cordery et al. 2010), and when teams engage in conceptual tasks for which the means-ends is not clear rather than simpler behavioral tasks (Stewart & Barrick 2000). Virtuality also appears important: Kirkman et al. (2004) showed that team empowerment is a stronger predictor of team effectiveness when teams meet face to face less often; their explanation for this finding is that empowerment is especially important for facilitating learning within a challenging virtual context.

Another question concerns the higher-level effects of group autonomy. A case study showed that autonomous group work design can enhance intrateam performance while hampering interteam coordination because of the high team ownership experienced by team members (Ingvaldsen & Rolfsen 2012). Similarly, in a simulation study, decentralized planning was associated with increased team member proactivity and aspiration, but also with coordination problems across teams, resulting in net negative effects on multisystem performance (Lanaj et al. 2013).

A broader literature on concepts such as high-performance work systems (HPWSs) typically considers self-management of teams to be one of the important practices, alongside other elements such as incentive compensation and extensive training. HPWSs are associated with organizational performance, and the link is stronger when a system of practices is considered rather than one single practice (Combs et al. 2006). One would anticipate that these positive organization-level effects are partly accounted for by the positive effects of individual or group work design at lower levels of analysis, although most studies have not examined these pathways.

Expanded Motivational Theories: Proactive, Prosocial, and Other Perspectives

This section extends beyond intrinsic motivation to consider the effect of work design on proactive and prosocial forms of motivation (see also Grant & Parker 2009), as well as on other forms of motivation.

Proactive perspectives on work design. The JCM is relatively passive in terms of the type of outcomes it considers as well as the presumed causes of work design.

Regarding outcomes, job satisfaction is one of the most popular outcomes of work design, yet satisfaction can be experienced as a form of passive contentment. Likewise, task performance concerns carrying out expected tasks well, but more active types of performance, such as taking initiative and proactively introducing improvements, are considered increasingly important in today's dynamic workplaces. Consequently, scholars have increasingly become concerned with how work design can facilitate more proactive attitudes and behaviors. Parker et al. (2010) argued that work design can promote "can do," "reason to," and "energized to" motivational states that in turn stimulate proactivity. Thus, varied and challenging tasks provide employees the opportunity for enactive mastery, which, in turn, cultivates self-efficacy beliefs that they can take charge of their environment (Parker 1998). Enriched jobs also enhance individuals' reason to be proactive, for example, by giving individuals a better appreciation of the impact of their work (Grant 2007) and by promoting flexible role orientations in which individuals feel ownership for broader work goals

Job resources:

aspects of a job that help employees to achieve their work goals, to develop personally, and to deal with job demands

(Parker et al. 2001). Interestingly, time pressure and situational constraints—which are typically considered to be stressors in work settings—can also generate a reason to be proactive. From a control theory perspective, these stressors signal a mismatch between a desired and an actual situation, which stimulates employees to want to proactively rectify the situation (Fay & Sonnentag 2002). Finally, enriched jobs can promote "energized to" states, such as feelings of enthusiasm and vigor (Parker et al. 2009). A meta-analysis by Tornau & Frese (2013) highlighted the importance of job control and social support in predicting proactive work behavior.

A second proactive perspective relates to the causes of work design. The traditional work design approach assumes that others (e.g., managers) design jobs, or that work design derives from broader organizational and technological choices. However, individuals mold their work characteristics to fit their individual abilities or personalities. Much recent attention has been given to how individuals redesign their own work, for example, through job crafting, proactive work behavior, or obtaining personalized employment arrangements in the form of idiosyncratic deals (Grant & Parker 2009). Groups can also initiate work design change (see, e.g., Leana et al. 2009). Training individuals to proactively craft their work might increase the effectiveness of top-down work redesign efforts by equipping job incumbents with the skills and attitudes to realize the opportunities offered. Knowledge and professional workers might particularly benefit from redesigning their own work, because these individuals typically have more autonomy, higher education, and higher aspiration for career progression and are increasingly subjected to excessive work demands that might require crafting to be manageable (see below). Theoretically, although scholars recognize that individuals' proactivity can shape their work design, the mechanisms by which this process occurs have barely been considered (Grant & Parker 2009).

The above proactive perspectives come together in the idea of a positive spiral, in which work design promotes proactive attitudes and behaviors that, in turn, lead individuals to shape their work design, causing further development of proactive attitudes and behaviors, ad infinitum. In support of such a spiral, Frese et al. (2007) showed that autonomy and job complexity predict control orientation (a motivational state that includes self-efficacy), which predicts personal initiative, which in turn leads to perceptions of autonomy and complexity. Research on the job demandsresources model (see below) is similarly concerned with positive spirals between job resources and personal resources (Demerouti & Bakker 2011). One issue to explore further is how work design might, via such positive spirals, contribute to positive organization-level outcomes, such as organizational innovation or corporate entrepreneurship.

Prosocial motivation and relational work design. Attention to social and relational aspects of work design has recently gathered pace, in part because of shifts in practice, such as a greater level of collaboration across intra- and interorganizational boundaries (Grant & Parker 2009). A key advance is the relational job design perspective, which focuses on how work structures can provide more or fewer opportunities for employees to interact with others, which in turn affect their motivation, attitudes, and job performance (Grant 2007). In an extension of research on task significance, Grant (2007) argued that when jobs are structured such that incumbents have contact with those who benefit from their work (i.e., beneficiaries, such as clients, customers, and patients), job incumbents empathize with the beneficiaries, which encourages incumbents' effort, persistence, and helping behavior.

A series of studies by Grant and colleagues has supported and extended these ideas. In a field experiment in a call center, callers were given brief contact with a beneficiary—in this case, a scholarship recipient who benefited from funding raised by callers. Compared with controls, these callers spent significantly more time on calls over the next month and vastly increased their average weekly revenue (Grant et al. 2007). In another study, nurses who volunteered to help assemble surgical kits for use in disadvantaged countries met and heard vivid stories from beneficiaries (in this case, health care practitioners who had previously used surgical kits in former war zones). Compared with controls, these nurses had increased prosocial motivation and assembled more kits (Bellé 2013), an effect that was even stronger for individuals high in prosocial motivation at the outset. The positive effects of relational work design are boosted by transformational leadership (Grant 2012b).

A key theoretical contribution of the relational perspective is that work design can activate employees' prosocial motivation, that is, their desire to bring benefit to others. This contrasts with the traditional emphasis on designing work to enhance intrinsic interest in the job. Practically, relational work design can be a path for increasing work meaning when enriched types of work redesign are impossible or politically untenable. It is also likely that different forms of relational work design will suit different contexts. For a sample of doctors who already had frequent contact with patients, structural support was a powerful form of relational work design, albeit one focused on enhancing relationships among employees rather than between employees and their beneficiaries (Parker et al. 2012).

Self-determination theory, regulatory focus, and goal regulation. Parker & Ohly (2008) incorporated recent developments in motivation theory into their theorizing about work design. One contribution of their model derives from the application of self-determination theory (SDT; see Gagné & Deci 2005) to work design. From a SDT perspective, an individual can experience an unenjoyable task (or task that is not intrinsically motivating) as meaningful because the task is seen as important (identified motivation) and/or because the task is congruent with the individual's values (integrated regulation). Integrated and identified motivation occur when individuals take in external values or regulations through a process of internalization, which is in turn aided by their needs for relatedness and social processes (Gagné & Deci 2005). Work designs such as self-managing teams and relational work design likely exert some of their performance effects via identified and integrated motivation, yet such processes have not been explicitly considered (Parker & Ohly 2008). A further issue relates to the meaning of autonomy. In SDT, autonomy refers to an internalized sense of choice (Gagné & Deci 2005); in the JCM, in contrast, job autonomy refers to actual freedom of choice and discretion in one's job (Hackman & Oldham 1976). As discussed below (see Enabling Bureaucracy), some scholars argue that employees can be motivated even if they lack job autonomy so long as they have a sense of choice through participation in decision making, a concept consistent with the SDT perspective.

Parker & Ohly (2008) proposed several further neglected motivational pathways by which work design might exert its effects, such as activating individuals' regulatory focus (Higgins 1998). For example, enriched work design increases control, which enhances the salience of internal forces of behavior and activates a promotion focus, which in turn is associated with creativity (Meyer et al. 2004). Work design can also affect the goals people choose or set (goal generation), as well as how they regulate effort during goal pursuit (goal striving; see Kanfer 1990). In terms of the former, job enrichment should result in individuals setting more difficult goals (job enrichment enhances commitment, which leads to setting challenging goals); more creative goals (job enrichment increases positive affect, which broadens thinking), and more long-term goals (feedback from a customer promotes internalization of customer goals, resulting in wanting to satisfy customers). Likewise, goal striving involves processes that are likely enhanced by work design. For example, staying on track with a goal requires resolving discrepancies between current performance and the desired goal state (Kanfer 1990), a process that occurs only if individuals see factors that affect their performance as controllable, a belief affected by job enrichment. Successful self-regulation is also aided by having tasks with attentional pull or tasks that feel important or interesting (Beal et al. 2006), which again is likely fostered by job enrichment.

Relational work design: designing roles to enhance opportunities for employees to interact positively with others, such as the beneficiaries of their work Goal generation and striving processes might also be affected by work design via unconscious mechanisms (Parker & Ohly 2008). When goal-directed behaviors are repeated consistently in a similar situation with positive reinforcement, they can become habitual (Bargh & Chartrand 1999). For example, a job with little autonomy might reduce self-efficacy and promote a prevention focus, which leads an individual to avoid difficult goals. Over time, avoiding difficult goals might become a habitual response that involves little conscious processing. Thus, work characteristics potentially create situational cues, which people respond to in habitual ways or with automatic routines. Such a possibility has yet to be explored.

Motivational Work Design in Practice

How relevant are motivation perspectives in today's workplaces? Listening to the rhetoric about highly skilled jobs in the knowledge economy, one could be forgiven for assuming that most jobs these days are complex and enriched. Certainly this is true for some sectors and some jobs. However, there continues to be a large (and in some cases growing) number of low-wage, low-quality jobs in advanced and developing economies (Osterman & Shulman 2011). Indeed, evidence in the United States suggests an increasing polarization of job quality—more "good jobs" and more "bad jobs," with a growing gap between them (Kalleberg 2011). The fifth European Working Conditions Survey, conducted in 2010, of 44,000 workers across 34 European countries, identified more than one-fifth of jobs as having poor intrinsic quality. Examples of poor contemporary work design abound, even in new jobs. For example, weatherization jobs (making houses more energy efficient) in the United States have primarily been designed as low-wage, poor-quality jobs with little opportunity for development (Osterman & Shulman 2011).

Why do poor-quality work designs continue to exist when there is clear evidence about the negative individual consequences of job simplification, as well as considerable evidence about the negative organizational consequences, such as poor performance, absence, and turnover? One could argue that enriched jobs, which have greater compensation and training requirements, are prohibitive in industries in which efficiency and cost effectiveness are key. However, whether deskilled jobs are the optimal economic option in these industries is highly debatable, especially taking into account turnover, absenteeism, and other such costs. Moreover, the long-run social and health costs of these jobs "are real and quantifiable, and they are paid by families and communities" (Osterman & Shulman 2011, p. 144).

The forces that perpetuate job simplification and poor-quality work reside at many levels, which suggests that changing the situation will require insights and action from multiple stakeholders. Globally, the rise of poor-quality jobs is driven by changes in technology and other macroeconomic and social forces (Davis 2010). For example, owing to increased competitive pressure coupled with the decline of unions, organizations can use outsourcing and contingent contracts to design work in ways they might not otherwise have been able to (Osterman & Shulman 2011). Likewise, technology has eradicated many middle-level jobs, leaving low-skilled jobs that cannot be computerized.

Work design is also affected by national policies, regulation, and institutions (Holman 2013). In regard to the weatherization jobs referred to above, although various advocacy groups pushed for quality jobs, this goal was held back by other stakeholders' competing goals as well as by complex political pressures. In this vein, Payne & Keep (2003) argued that the United Kingdom has adopted a "low road" set of competitive strategies, such as low-cost production, that are less conducive to enriched job designs with high-level skill use. In contrast, the Nordic countries are considered world leaders in supporting high-quality work designs; in the fifth European Working Conditions Survey, their jobs were of the highest quality. Norway has a long history of industrial democracy,

underpinned by a long-term agreement between the key employers' organization and the key trade union. Likewise, whereas low-wage retail jobs exist in Germany, these jobs are broader and more interesting than those in the United States as a result of Germany's strong vocational training system (Osterman & Shulman 2011). Thus, although unions, business associations, academics, and community groups can shape job quality, redesigning work on a large scale likely requires supportive government policy. The Norwegian model of involving social scientists in changing practice might enable academics to play a more active role in shaping work design policy. Policy would also be aided by systematic tracking of work characteristics at a national level, as is carried out by the large-scale European work survey.

At the level of the organization, poor-quality work design sometimes represents a continuation of traditional practice, with insufficient knowledge or motivation on the part of CEOs, managers, engineers, or other job designers to create better jobs (similar issues apply to the take-up of high-performance work systems). Many managers continue to maintain the "enduring cultural frame of Taylorism" (Vidal 2013, p. 604). Even if organizations attempt work redesign, there is no guarantee of success. Davis (2010) drew on new institution theory to suggest that organizations copy what others are doing in order to reduce uncertainty, but whether an initiative works or is well implemented is of less concern, and the result is that business fads come and go. Davis urged scholars to investigate organizations' motives for work redesign (e.g., mimicry, legitimacy) prior to evaluating it because the motive will likely affect success. Work redesign is also more difficult to copy effectively than are other interventions such as technology and training because it involves the redistribution of power and challenges implicit assumptions about control and leadership (Parker & Wall 1998). From this perspective, the development of evidence-based tools, case studies, processes, and guidance will help practitioners and managers to analyze and successfully redesign work.

Considering the level of the individual work designer, scholars need to revisit why those responsible for work design tend to design and implement simplified jobs. Campion & Stevens's (1991) study of naive job designers (MBA students) showed that there is a dominant logic of work design focused around simplification and efficiency, although this logic can be changed with training. We need more research to understand whether this logic still exists among today's job designers and, if so, what biases, attitudes, or knowledge bases drive this logic and how these might be altered.

PART 2: EXPANDED WORK DESIGN PERSPECTIVES

Motivational theories of work design have dominated psychological approaches to work design. A continued focus by psychologists on motivation is justified given the prevalence of demotivating jobs, as noted above. However, advances in technology, a growth in knowledge work, and other such forces mean that many jobs are becoming more complex. There has been a growth in abstract tasks, or jobs that are difficult to computerize, as well as a rise in expectations for job quality and flexibility as a result of a more educated workforce, an increasing number of women in the work place, and a change in the mind-sets of young people (Kalleberg 2011). This heterogeneity in work design practice needs to be matched by theoretical heterogeneity. We need to expand the criterion space beyond motivation, not just by adding extra dependent variables to empirical studies but by exploring when, why, and how work design can help to achieve different purposes.

To address increased complexity, work should be designed to achieve three key outcomes. First, work design as a vehicle for learning and development is important at the aggregate level, because of projected global skills shortages, and at the individual level, because skill development is needed for effectiveness within a complex environment. Second, the level of demands and the pace of change, combined with the pressures of dual-career families, bring to the foreground the role of work design in facilitating health and well-being. Third, because organizations are under

pressure to meet the needs of multiple stakeholders, scholars must consider how to design work that promotes more than one outcome at the same time—for example, control and flexibility.

Designing Work for Learning and Development

The idea that work design affects individual development is a long-standing one. In 1957, Argyris argued that bureaucratic jobs can result in adults becoming infantlike—that is, passive, dependent on others, and focused on the short term. Since then, scholars have argued that enriched work designs promote positive forms of development in which an individual "changes the world through work actions and thereby changes him or herself" (Frese & Zapf 1994, p. 86). Nevertheless, the role of work design as a vehicle for learning and development has mostly been advanced by industrial sociologists and European organizational researchers. The time is ripe for this perspective to become more mainstream.

At a global level, as a result of technological and economic change, there is an increasing premium on highly skilled employees (Manyika et al. 2012). The traditional solution to this challenge is to improve the supply of skills, for example, through better education. But attention must also be given to the demand side: Organizations need to be encouraged to design work that both requires greater skill utilization and facilitates skill development (Osterman & Shulman 2011, Payne & Keep 2003). Promoting learning and development is also important at the individual level. Individuals need to develop sufficient cognitive, self, social, and affective complexity in order to interact adaptively in dynamic and unpredictable environments (Lord et al. 2011). The development of this complexity also facilitates their career effectiveness in a context that demands adaptive capabilities for success (Hall & Heras 2010).

This section considers how work design might promote job incumbents' learning and development. Development is distinct from learning or change in that it involves structural transformation—that is, moving to a qualitatively distinct state that is progressive as well as internally directed (Moshman 1998). For example, acquiring knowledge about a topic is cognitive change, whereas increasing structural complexity in the organization of knowledge is cognitive development. Much development occurs in childhood as a result of biology and maturation, but development also occurs in adulthood as a result of experience, especially work. Next the article considers how work design can shape cognitive, identity, and moral processes in the short term and cognitive, identity, and moral development in the long term. The final section proposes that work design can also speed up individuals' learning and development.

Cognitive processes and development. Influenced by the German action theory principle that all actions involve goal setting, planning, decision making, monitoring, and feedback, Frese & Zapf (1994, p. 43) argued that lower levels of job control and lower job complexity inhibit learning because individuals engage in an incomplete action sequence. From this perspective, job control is important because control means it is possible to choose adequate strategies to deal with a situation, resulting in feedback and learning. Complexity in a job also promotes learning because, although work on a challenging task must initially be regulated at the highest intellectual level, with practice the actions become more automatized and can be regulated at lower, less conscious levels. Over time, skills become routinized, freeing up resources for learning yet more skills. For example, if a job frequently involves long-range goal setting, individuals will increasingly routinize this metacognitive skill.

In a similar vein, Wall & Jackson (1995) in the United Kingdom argued that when individuals have the autonomy to control variance at the source, they obtain immediate feedback about the effects of their actions, which promotes the development of elaborated mental models. In

addition, when problem rectification is under their control, individuals can observe cause and effect, and thus develop anticipatory knowledge that enables them to prevent problems. In support of these ideas, a series of innovative studies have shown that job autonomy reduces machine downtime because operators learn to prevent faults (see, e.g., Leach et al. 2003). Further studies have identified moderators of these learning effects; for example, work design promotes more learning for individuals who are able to control their attention via psychological flexibility (Bond & Flaxman 2006).

Over the longer term, work design might promote changes in the structure and organization of knowledge (i.e., cognitive development). Building on earlier work, Schooler et al. (2004) reported that, controlling for levels of these variables assessed 20 years prior, having complex work with low supervision predicted employees' later intellectual flexibility, including the ability to deal with complex cognitive problems. Although these findings are not lagged effects, this study supports the premise that enriched work design affects adult cognitive development. Related evidence comes from studies showing that complex, intellectually demanding occupations are associated with better cognitive functioning in later life (Karp et al. 2009). Indeed, a study of more than 10,000 twins concluded that "greater complexity of work, and particularly complex work with people, may reduce the risk of Alzheimer's disease" (Andel et al. 2005, p. 257).

One critical cognitive aspect that can develop during adulthood is epistemic cognition, that is, how one thinks about knowledge. Development of epistemic cognition involves moving from a dualist, objectivist view of knowledge to a more relativist and contextualized view—for example, by being less black and white in one's thinking. One pathway by which enriched jobs might promote epistemic cognition is through increasing individuals' tendency to adopt others' perspectives (Parker & Axtell 2001). Another pathway is through affecting epistemic motivation, or the desire to hold well-informed conclusions about the world, which in turn affects epistemic cognition. Epistemic motivation is enhanced by accountability but reduced by time pressure and fatigue, suggesting that autonomous jobs that are not overly demanding might facilitate epistemic motivation and, ultimately, more complex ways of thinking.

Identity processes and development. It is unsurprising that work affects individuals' role identities as well their occupational identities. For example, the introduction of new technology reduces purchasers' job autonomy and their opportunity to interact with suppliers, which damages their sense of professional identity (Eriksson-Zetterquist et al. 2009, Johns 2010). Perhaps more interesting is that work design can potentially affect an individual's personal identity, that is, how one perceives the entirety of oneself—such as one's goals, traits, and characteristics—in relation to the environment (Oyserman 2001). Bosma & Kuunen (2001) identified three facilitators of identity development, all of which are potentially affected by work design: opportunities for growth, successful development experiences, and openness to experience. Challenging, enriched jobs obviously can provide the first of these two elements. In regard to openness to experience, prior evidence shows that enriched jobs promote self-efficacy for more proactive and interpersonal tasks (Parker 1998), which, aggregated over long periods, potentially translates into openness to experience. Consistent with this reasoning, the Schooler et al. (2004) study referenced above showed that individuals in complex jobs develop a more self-directed orientation (see also Frese et al. 2007), and Xanthopoulou et al. (2007) reported that job resources such as autonomy and support result in higher levels of personal resources (selfefficacy, optimism, and organization-based self-esteem) that potentially lead to greater openness to experience.

One mechanism that might explain the development of one's self-concept as a result of work design is need fulfillment. From a self-determination perspective, autonomy-supporting and

need-satisfying environments satisfy one's basic needs of autonomy, relatedness, and achievement and thereby promote identity development (Grolnick et al. 1997). In contrast, controlling social environments, such as bureaucratic job structures, detract from internalization, that is, the process by which identity-relevant explorations are brought into alignment with the self. Thwarted needs also foster a fragile self-esteem, which is less conducive to growth, whereas meeting basic needs fosters a secure self-esteem in which individuals like and accept themselves, "warts and all," and thereby develop their identity (Kernis 2000).

An uninvestigated mechanism underpinning the link between work design and identity development is that enriched jobs might allow individuals to explore and experiment with different identities, or try out what Ibarra (1999) referred to as provisional selves (Hall & Heras 2010). For example, in self-managing teams, members have the opportunity to try out supervisory tasks that are distributed throughout the team and to potentially develop a leader identity. Once individuals have a leader identity, they will then behave in identity-congruent ways that lead them to engage in yet more leadership activities (Oyserman 2001). Work design likely also facilitates a form of identity development argued to be important for effective leadership, which is a shift in focus from an individual identity (me) to a relational identity (you and me) or a collective identity (all of us) (Lord et al. 2011). For example, members of self-managing teams have shared accountability for team outcomes. The outcome dependencies, as well as the need for cooperation in self-managing teams, motivate team members to engage in intrateam perspective taking, which likely fosters a stronger relational identity orientation.

Moral processes and development. Moral processes include recognizing a moral issue, engaging in moral reasoning to identify the ideal behavior, being motivated to focus on moral concerns, and then carrying out the chosen moral action (see Treviño et al. 2014). Individuals in narrow, deskilled jobs might not identify an issue as a moral concern because they lack an understanding of the bigger picture and/or are unable to see the perspectives of others (Parker & Axtell 2001). Because of their restricted jobs, they may have little understanding of the consequences of their actions and may not even realize ethical implications. Thus, poor-quality work designs might impede recognition of a moral issue, the first step in the moral process.

Individuals with poor job designs might also lack the motivation to focus on moral concerns. That is, even if one recognizes a moral concern and is able to identify what should be done, moral temptations require one to have the self-regulatory capacity to resist one action in favor of another action (Hannah et al. 2011). Deskilled jobs can result in narrow, "not my job" role orientations, reduced perspective taking, and lowered self-efficacy, which suggests that employees in deskilled jobs often lack ownership of, and self-efficacy for, addressing moral issues. As an example, in the well-known aircraft brake scandal, in which brakes designed by Goodrich engineers subsequently failed, an employee made the following note in regard to diagrams that he knew had been falsified: "After all, we're just drawing some curves and what happens to them after they leave here—well we're not responsible for that" (Vandivier 1972; cited in Jones & Ryan 1998, p. 438). Excessive bureaucracy and overly narrow jobs appeared in this case to result in diffused responsibility; that is, no individuals take ownership of the decisions. In addition, work designs that keep group members isolated from other members isolate individuals from the big picture and therefore render them unable to compare notes on moral problems (Jones & Ryan 1998). Cross-functional teams, in which individuals have access to information from multiple parties, can reduce feelings of isolation and increase self-efficacy and motivation to address a moral issue.

Even when individuals have recognized a moral issue and are motivated to act ethically, they still need to take action. Moral action is affected by self-regulation: Unethical behaviors are more likely when individuals' self-regulatory resources are depleted after mentally taxing activities (Gino

et al. 2011), which suggests the need to carefully manage the level of work demands in any job with significant moral temptation. In addition, moral action is likely affected by autonomy. As with all behavior, the implementation of moral action is likely constrained in low-autonomy situations because of the lack of opportunity to act. However, this link also means that if individuals are motivated to behave unethically, autonomy allows them the latitude to do so, as occurs, for example, in the case of rogue traders. Thus, autonomy might be an important moderator of the effects of moral motivation on action.

A further influence on ethical behavior is an individual's level of moral reasoning. Treviño (1986) argued that individuals at higher stages of moral reasoning development are less susceptible to external temptations and are more likely to take moral action or to self-select out of unethical situations. This brings us to the potential role of work design in fostering moral development. Similarly to cognitive development, the development of moral reasoning is facilitated by exposure to new situations that cannot be understood using existing schemas, therefore necessitating the development of new schemas. Social experiences involving role taking, such as educational experiences, are especially powerful: "Faced with the 'unique' other, the individual is constantly challenged to rise to a more general perspective that preserves the unique perspectives of both self and other" (Wilson et al. 1992, p. 32). Treviño (1986) proposed that jobs in which individuals are required to engage in complex role taking, such as democratic leadership roles in which the leader needs to be sensitive to others' views, can help individuals to develop advanced moral reasoning. As an illustration, self-managing team members make complex decisions, manage colleagues' poor performance, and engage in other self-directed activities; all of these actions involve consulting with peers and navigating dynamic hierarchies of influence. Such complex role taking should, over time, expand moral reasoning complexity.

To date, little empirical research links job design to moral reasoning development, although Wilson et al. (1992) reported in a 10-year longitudinal study that, over and above occupational and educational attainment, individuals' career fulfillment predicts moral reasoning development. These authors recommended further consideration of work variables in promoting moral reasoning. The role of autonomy is especially intriguing. As noted above, on the one hand, autonomy allows individuals who want to act unethically the opportunity to do so (autonomy as a moderator), but on the other hand, autonomy with other enriched work characteristics might facilitate awareness and ownership of moral issues as well as, in the longer term, more complex moral reasoning (autonomy as an antecedent).

Accelerating learning and development. In the field of leadership development, experiences that accelerate learning include assessment, challenge, and support (Day et al. 2009). Assessment provides feedback that motivates individuals to close skill gaps, challenge motivates individuals to try new behaviors, and support helps individuals to cope with setbacks. Work design is a powerful source of assessment, challenge, and support because these elements can be embedded into the work design, yielding continuous rather than single development opportunities. In contrast, challenge in leadership programs is often achieved via participation in temporary stretch projects. Theories of learned industriousness and adaption-level theory suggest that having a sustained opportunity to adapt to high demands can promote the development of resources to aid in self-regulation. Converse & DeShon (2009) showed that exposure to two demanding tasks can lead to adaption effects, whereas exposure to one demanding task results in depletion. One would predict that work design allows more adaptation, and potentially greater self-regulatory capacity, relative to one-off development opportunities.

Evidence also suggests that learning is accelerated when challenge occurs within an individual's "zone of proximal development" rather than adopting a sink-or-swim approach (Day et al. 2009,

p. 29). Work redesign is recommended to be incremental, with job enrichment expanding as the capability of the individual or team grows (Parker & Wall 1998). Social support, a key job design resource, also increases an individual's zone of proximal development (Day et al. 2009). A further important facilitator of accelerated learning is developmental readiness—that is, receptiveness to challenge, feedback, and support—which is shaped by the interaction of learning orientation, self-efficacy, and metacognitive ability. As discussed above, work design can influence these elements, so enriched work design potentially facilitates developmentally ready employees.

Designing Work for Mental and Physical Health

The World Health Organization (WHO) defined health as a "state of complete physical, mental, and social well-being, and not merely the absence of disease of infirmity" (World Health Organ. 1948, p. 100). Consistent with this definition, Parker et al. (2003) reviewed evidence that work design affects distress, strain, and injury, as well as indicators of active mental and physical health such as aspiration, self-efficacy, engagement, and safe working. Because outcomes related to active mental health are covered above, this section focuses on designing work to prevent or mitigate strain and other negative health outcomes.

The incorporation of work design into policy in some countries indicates its relevance for health. For example, Sweden has explicitly built work design principles into occupational health statutes. Nevertheless, the increased complexity in many jobs, the pressures associated with dual-parent working, and heightened concerns about health issues in society all highlight the need for more attention to the design of healthy work. As observed in the fifth European Working Conditions Survey (see also Holman 2013), the average level of work intensity of jobs has increased; almost half of jobs are identified as potentially unhealthy due to their poor intrinsic quality and/or their poor working-time quality.

Strain arises as a result of an individual's interaction with the work environment. According to Spector (1998), if situations and events are appraised as a threat (a stressor), negative emotions arise that can lead to psychological strain such as anxiety, physical strain such as heart disease, and/or behavioral strain such as smoking. Reverse paths can also occur, for example, when an individual who is feeling anxious is more likely to appraise a situation as threatening. Individual differences in characteristics such as coping style affect paths in this model, for example, when different individuals place themselves into different environments, appraise different events as stressors, and respond differently when negative emotions arise.

Job demands—control model. Work characteristics are important features of the external environment that are appraised by individuals, especially the levels of job demands and job control (or job autonomy). The influential demand-control model (Karasek 1979) proposes that high job demands and low job control cause psychological strain and, in the long term, stress-related illnesses such as heart disease. A unique element of the model is the interaction hypothesis that high job demands cause strain when accompanied by low decision latitude (i.e., low job control and low skill discretion), but if demands occur in the presence of high decision latitude—a so-called active job—then strain will not accrue. Instead, an active job leads to feelings of mastery and confidence, which, in turn, help the person to cope with further job demands, promoting more learning, and so on, in a positive spiral (Karasek & Theorell 1990).

Like the JCM, the demand-control model has received many criticisms, including its focus on a narrow set of work characteristics. Nevertheless, also like the JCM, the demand-control model has spurred much research. Support for the model is strongest in regard to the negative strain effects of excess job demands. In a review on 19 longitudinal studies, De Lange et al.

(2003) reported that two-thirds of the studies showed negative strain effects of high job demands, especially on psychological well-being and sickness/absence. However, the effects of demand on absence are complex; there is some evidence that higher demands result in lower absence, perhaps because these individuals have more pressure to attend (Smulders & Nijhuis 1999) or perhaps because the demands are experienced as a challenge. High demands combined with low control have also been shown to affect cardiovascular disease in a series of rigorous studies, particularly for men (Belkic et al. 2004); an explanation for this effect is that these jobs promote psychological strain, hypertension, and/or physical risk factors like smoking, which then increase the likelihood of heart disease. A handful of intervention studies support these conclusions. Excess job demands can also reduce safety (Nahrgang et al. 2011); for example, when employees face heightened production goals, they are more likely to ignore safety procedures to get the job done.

Job control can affect the strain process through several pathways. Scholars have argued that individuals have a need for control, so if this need is unfulfilled, negative strain effects arise (Gagné & Deci 2005). Control also promotes active coping, which leads to learning and mastery and thus to reduced strain (Karasek 1979). Consistent with these predictions, Daniels et al. (2013) showed that changing work activities in order to solve problems, a process the authors conceptualized as enacting job control, subsequently reduced employees' negative affect, cognitive failure, and fatigue. In terms of strain outcomes, many cross-sectional studies show that a lack of perceived job control relates to anxiety, depression, burnout, excess alcohol consumption, and other such outcomes, although the results are more mixed in longitudinal studies. In their review, De Lange et al. (2003) reported that only approximately one-half of the longitudinal studies showed a main effect of job control on subsequent health outcomes. The strain-reducing effects of job autonomy likely depend on individual differences or contextual variables (Warr 2007).

Although the main effect of job control on health has been investigated, there has been even more interest in whether the negative strain effects of demand can be buffered by high job control, as implied in the demand-control model (Karasek 1979) and the job demands-resources model (see below) and as demonstrated in laboratory studies (Sonnentag & Frese 2003). This interaction hypothesis is of practical value because it suggests that high demands are not negative for health so long as they are accompanied by high control. Multiple reviews have concluded that support for this interaction effect is not convincing (see, e.g., De Lange et al. 2003, Van der Doef & Maes 1999), although reviews of this research tend to conclude that conceptual and methodological imprecision has made interactive effects difficult to detect (Sonnentag & Frese 2003). For example, interactions have been observed in studies that use an unconfounded measure of job control or multilevel approaches or that take into account moderators such as self-efficacy (Schaubroeck et al. 2000). Multilevel studies allow the opportunity to separate the variance of job demands and job control into individual-level and group-level components. Future studies must also pay more attention to mechanisms and their timing. For example, if the positive effects of control depend on an individual learning how to use this control to cope with the demands, buffering effects of control will be realized only after sufficient time.

Extensions to the demand-control model. There are further models of strain that relate to work design (see Sonnentag & Frese 2003). The job demands-resources model (Bakker & Demerouti 2007) identifies a broader set of job resources beyond autonomy and skill discretion that includes career opportunities and participation in decision making. One of the most important resources is social support, which can fulfill basic needs for belongingness and facilitate achievement of work goals, thereby promoting both motivational outcomes (e.g., engagement)

and alleviating strain (Demerouti & Bakker 2011). Much evidence suggests that receiving social support from supervisors and peers matters for employees' health (De Lange et al. 2003, Van der Doef & Maes 1999). Intriguingly, the act of giving support also appears to have health benefits (Brown et al. 2003), likely because of the positive affect that helping generates, which suggests that structuring jobs so that individuals have the opportunity to help others could facilitate better health. Extensions of the job demands-resources model include the concepts that job resources are especially important for motivation when demands are high and—similar to the learning and development perspective above—that job resources shape, and are shaped by, personal resources such as self-efficacy and optimism (Demerouti & Bakker 2011).

The conservation of resources theory (Hobfoll 1989) proposed that resource loss is especially salient, and loss prompts two distinct strategies by which individuals seek to maintain or secure resources. When an individual's psychological resources are threatened with loss, the recovery of lost resources becomes a central motivating force, so individuals use external resources to protect themselves (a protection mechanism). In contrast, when individuals are not threatened by resource loss, they are motivated to use external resources in order to further enrich their resource pool (an accumulation mechanism). In a quasi-experimental study of junior doctors, Parker et al. (2013) showed that a social support intervention led to reduced workload for those doctors experiencing high resource loss (i.e., suffering from anxiety and depression), consistent with a protection mechanism, whereas the support intervention boosted proactivity and skill development for doctors not experiencing resource loss, consistent with an accumulation mechanism. This study suggests that support matters for health, although how it is mobilized and used depends on individual differences.

In a further extension of the demand-control model, scholars have differentiated challenge demands from hindrance demands (LePine et al. 2005). Challenge demands create the opportunity for development and achievement, such as job scope, whereas hindrance demands are seen as obstacles to achievement and growth, such as role ambiguity. Meta-analyses support this distinction and have shown that both types of demands are associated with strain; however, hindrance stressors are also associated with turnover and withdrawal, whereas challenge stressors are positively related to motivation and performance (Crawford et al. 2010). Hindrance demands arguably trigger negative emotions and passive coping, whereas challenge demands trigger positive emotions and cognitions and active coping. This stream of research is consistent with studies that show that demands can sometimes promote active health outcomes (for example, time pressure predicts proactive behavior at work).

The challenge-hindrance approach provides a more nuanced approach to demands. However, rather than categorizing some demands as challenges and others as hindrances, it may ultimately be more useful to integrate appraisal theory to consider how demands are appraised by an individual (see Ohly & Fritz 2009). An appraisal-based approach can assess why someone might perceive a particular demand as a challenge, whereas someone else perceives the same demand as a hindrance. One could consider primary appraisals of the demand (e.g., is it irrelevant, benign, or harmful?), attributions about the demand (e.g., is it controllable?), and secondary appraisals of the demand (e.g., can I cope?). Appraisals will also vary within individuals according to the situation, and this variation has consequences for momentary experiences of strain. For example, in a within-person study, Fisher et al. (2013) showed how, for individuals with high performance goal orientation, appraisals of task importance were associated with negative emotions.

Even with challenge stressors, there might be a tipping point at which excess or sustained levels are damaging. On the basis of earlier observations of U-shaped relationships between job demands and health, Johns (2010) observed that some jobs can be too rich. Bunderson & Thompson (2009,

p. 50) likewise reported how zookeepers who conceptualized their work as a calling experienced that work as a source of meaning and identity but also as "unbending duty, sacrifice, and vigilance."

Strategies for designing healthy work. On the basis of the above analysis, the most obvious strategy is to directly change work characteristics, using approaches such as reducing strain-inducing demands and/or increasing job resources. For example, increased scheduling control over work hours and location leads to improved work-family fit (Kelly et al. 2011). Such a strategy is a primary stress intervention because it changes the environment. Scholars now need to extend this research to consider how to redesign work to support employee health across a range of contemporary work situations, such as working from home, in virtual teams, or on temporary employment contracts.

A further primary intervention strategy is to design jobs in a way that prevents the emergence of strain-inducing demands in the first place. For example, allowing customer agents the authority to deal with complaints on the spot speeds up service and reduces customer anger. Dealing with angry customers likely requires considerable emotional regulation on the part of the employee, and such self-control is highly depleting of one's regulatory resources (Muraven & Baumeister 2000). A related strategy is to design work in a way that enables and motivates individuals to proactively reduce job demands and/or increase job resources themselves. For example, Elsbach & Hargadon (2006, p. 471) proposed that, to avoid professional work becoming "relentlessly mindful and stress inducing," each workday should be designed with bouts of undemanding tasks inserted between challenging tasks. Job autonomy allows individuals to implement this type of strategy, or indeed any other coping strategy they find valuable. A variant of this strategy is to design jobs that promote positive feelings and meaning, such as jobs with the opportunity to support others, which might counteract stress reactions.

Secondary stress-intervention strategies involve changing individuals, including how they perceive and react to the environment. Stress-management training is an example. Yet, as argued in this article, work design can shape an individual's motivation (e.g., self-efficacy), behavior (e.g., proactivity), and emotional and cognitive capabilities, all of which can affect how individuals perceive and react to stressors in the work environment. For example, self-efficacious individuals are likely to perceive demands as less threatening and are more likely to take up any proactive job-crafting opportunities to reduce demands (Parker et al. 2001). Tertiary interventions are concerned with treatment and rehabilitation processes, such as counseling, for individuals who are experiencing strain. Yet again, work design might play a role. Scholars have examined how work design can promote recovery inside and outside of work. For example, individuals who have higher levels of control in their job, and lower demands, feel less need for recovery in the evening (Sonnentag & Zijlstra 2006). Work design can also potentially protect and enhance regulatory resources and facilitate their replenishment, for example, by allowing timing autonomy so employees can rest when required.

Secondary and tertiary interventions are often more popular than primary interventions because changing the individual is seen as more palatable and straightforward than changing the environment. However, secondary and tertiary interventions can have effects that are short term because they do not address the root cause of strain. Work design might be a powerful and more enduring intervention precisely because it changes both the environment and the individual. As Hackman (2009, p. 316) observed, "humans are 'wired up' for both adaption and growth": Redesigning work can promote growth, whereas individually oriented interventions such as stress-management training promote adaption. Hackman urged scholars to go beyond a focus on individual interventions

to "explore ways to develop and exploit the structural features of the social systems within which people live and work," a perspective supported in this review.

Designing Work for Control and Flexibility: Ambidexterity, Enabling Bureaucracy, and High-Reliability Organizing

Thus far, this article has focused on work design for separate outcomes such as motivation, learning, and health. However, increased environmental complexity, pressures to satisfy many stakeholders, and globalized competition mean that multiple outcomes are often desired at the same time. Work design that promotes multiple outcomes likely differs from that which promotes a single outcome (Johns 2010), especially if the outcomes are recognized as competing—for example, achieving both exploitation and exploration, both efficiency and innovation, or both safety and productivity.

Many of these competing outcomes can be summarized as a tension between control and flexibility (Quinn & Rohrbaugh 1983). Whereas control is about achieving consistency and efficiency (internal control, e.g., via standardization procedures) and achieving alignment with the mission (external control, e.g., via feedback systems), flexibility focuses on achieving responsiveness via job enrichment and related practices (internal flexibility) and achieving adaptability within a changing environment (external flexibility). It is typically assumed that practices to achieve control and flexibility are incompatible. For example, bureaucratic controls like standardization and hierarchy enable efficiency but impede the opportunity for mutual adjustment that enables flexibility. In the work design literature, scholars have observed that autonomy has benefits for flexibility and creativity but drawbacks for efficiency and coordination (Lanaj et al. 2013). Likewise, Biron & Bamberger (2010, p. 168) stated that a key challenge of structural empowerment is reconciling "the potential loss of control inherent in sharing authority with the potential motivation and productivity benefits that often accompany empowerment."

The question of how to achieve control and flexibility simultaneously is especially pertinent in professional sectors that have traditionally emphasized flexibility. Controls are increasingly being introduced into these sectors in the quest for consistency and cost efficiency. Examples include detailed guidelines that specify sentences judges should impose, standardized protocols for doctors to follow in diagnosis and treatment, and the specification of content and pedagogies for teachers (Davis 2010). Is it possible to introduce such controls and retain high levels of job enrichment, and the associated benefits for flexibility and creativity? Or is the introduction of these controls "perverse because professionals are the people we rely on to make wise decisions in uncertain circumstances" (Oldham & Hackman 2010, p. 467)? Understanding how to reconcile this tension between control and flexibility is an issue that will likely become more pressing in the future, given the projected growth in knowledge work. For example, it will be a particular challenge in large-scale collaborative creativity activities, such as the design of a new aircraft, involving several thousand engineers, in which the tasks are highly interdependent (requiring control) but also uncertain and complex (requiring flexibility and creativity) (Adler & Chen 2011).

The traditional contingency theory solution to the tension between control and flexibility is that bureaucratic structures (emphasizing control) should be in place when tasks are stable, whereas organic structures (emphasizing flexibility) should be preferred in dynamic, uncertain situations (Burns & Stalker 1961). However, this trade-off approach has been criticized. Both control and flexibility are increasingly required in many situations, and paradox perspectives suggest that it is possible to achieve seemingly contradictory outcomes simultaneously (Smith & Lewis 2011). This section reviews three perspectives relevant to achieving the dual outcomes of control and flexibility, with a focus on the implications of each for work design.

Ambidexterity. Scholars (e.g., O'Reilly & Tushman 2007) have argued that successful organizations are ambidextrous, both exploiting current capabilities (a control-oriented perspective) and exploring new possibilities (a flexibility-oriented perspective). Although external strategies for achieving these dual outcomes, such as outsourcing, have been suggested, ambidextrous organizations achieve a focus on exploration and exploitation simultaneously through internal strategies (Raisch & Birkinshaw 2008).

One internal structural solution is that different business units carry out different activities; for example, one unit may focus on innovation while the other focuses on manufacture (O'Reilly & Tushman 2007). The work design implications of structural solutions have rarely been discussed, but one would expect that business units pursuing exploration require job enrichment to stimulate creativity and innovation, whereas units pursuing exploitation would tend to be more bureaucratic with lower job enrichment. Nevertheless, questions arise. For example, is some degree of enrichment important for units designed to exploit capabilities? Research reviewed in this article suggests that at least moderate enrichment is preferable for most outcomes. Perhaps some types of autonomy (i.e., over when and how to do things) are appropriate for exploitation units, whereas members of exploration units should have broader autonomy (i.e., over what to do)? Some work characteristics (such as job feedback) might be important for both exploration and exploitation, whereas others (such as connecting with end users) might be more important for exploration than for exploitation. In addition, the top management team plays a central role in coordinating activities across the different types of units (O'Reilly & Tushman 2007), but perhaps there are also work design options, such as job rotation or joint membership of project teams, that complement the leader-oriented approach.

A second strategy for ambidexterity is one in which leaders create a supportive context that builds the whole business unit's capacity to be ambidextrous, thereby alleviating the coordination issues between subunits that can exist with structural solutions. Individual or group work design is central to this strategy of contextual ambidexterity: Scholars argue that it is achieved when individuals are empowered to judge for themselves how to best divide their time between the conflicting demands of exploration and exploitation (Gibson & Birkinshaw 2004). Besides a high level of autonomy, work characteristics one might expect to see in contextually ambidextrous organizations include task variety (employees engage in both exploration and exploitation tasks), task identity (employees don't just execute tasks but also improve them), and task significance (employees can have more impact through implementing improvements). Such an enriched work design likely promotes not only creativity, as a result of intrinsic motivation, but also proactivity, citizenship, and employee learning and development; all these outcomes should support the dual goals of exploration and exploitation. In addition, Gibson & Birkinshaw (2004) argued that individuals working in ambidextrous contexts need high levels of behavioral and cognitive complexity, which this article proposes can be facilitated by enriched jobs that involve challenge, feedback, and support. Altogether, enriched work design potentially plays a central role in achieving contextual ambidexterity, although this proposition is untested.

Nevertheless, enriched work design likely needs to be complemented with forms of control in order to ensure alignment, albeit not necessarily traditional forms of internal control such as standardization and monitoring. Informal forms of control, such as leadership and culture, potentially help employees work out the right way to behave without stifling flexible behavior. Gibson & Birkinshaw (2004) argued that, in addition to job enrichment, behaviorally complex leaders and a shared vision combine to inspire employees to deliver results, ensure the discipline to meet standards, and provide the stretch to induce ambitious goals. In a similar vein, Bledow et al. (2009) proposed that transformational leaders' intellectual stimulation and individual consideration promote creativity and exploration, whereas leaders' vision and inspirational motivation

Ambidexterity: an individual, team, or organization that simultaneously exploits current capabilities and explores new possibilities

Enabling bureaucracy:

organizational design that combines formalization and other controls with an enabling and supportive context assist in alignment and integration. Careful selection, training, and compensation practices can also be used to limit opportunistic behavior on the part of enriched employees.

Additional work design features beyond enrichment might be important in enabling organization-level and team-level ambidexterity. For example, connecting individuals with end users or beneficiaries potentially provides an important source of external information that can stimulate innovation. At the team level, Haas (2010) showed teams high in both group autonomy and external knowledge were most effective for achieving both operational and strategic performance, but only when knowledge content was scarce and the source of knowledge was nonorganizational. Switching from exploration to exploitation tasks is also likely to be cognitively demanding; scholars have observed that these processes require very distinct learning processes. One would therefore expect to find high levels of cognitive demands in jobs in ambidextrous organizations, which creates a need to consider how to design work to support effective self-regulation and protect against health risks. Exactly how work design supports and enables organizational ambidexterity is a topic worthy of empirical investigation, especially given the existing dearth of studies in this domain.

Enabling bureaucracy. A different approach for reconciling the tension between control and flexibility is that put forward by Adler and colleagues. Rather than establishing cultural controls to balance job autonomy, these scholars advocated limiting job autonomy and instead creating an enabling context that combines employee participation with motivating formal control systems. A classic example of an enabling bureaucracy is New United Motor Manufacturing, Inc. (NUMMI), a Toyota car manufacturing facility that previously operated in California (Adler & Borys 1996). In a Tayloristic manufacturing plant, repair and improvement are separated from routine production, whereas at NUMMI, employees could repair and solve breakdowns. Rather than following set procedures designed by engineers, NUMMI workers could help to design and standardize their own work methods. Adler & Borys (1996) characterized such practices as participative centralization: participation in that employees can contribute to important decisions, and centralization in the form of standardization and hierarchical authority.

Importantly, in this system, motivation arguably does not come from job autonomy; rather, employees are motivated by participative leadership, extensive training, employment security, engagement in continuous improvement, and other such positive features of the work context. The enabling context, combined with a clear understanding of the organization's mission, allows employees to experience identified motivation, that is, the internalization of values (Adler & Borys 1996, p. 80). A strong level of identification means that employees see formal controls such as standardized procedures as an effective way of achieving valued goals rather than as a coercive control mechanism. Clear organizational goals and values, enabling rules and procedures, and high trust are also argued to help foster interdependent self-concepts among employees, rather than solely independent self-concepts, which further aids coordination (Adler & Chen 2011).

In an analysis of lean production, Treville & Antonakis (2006) similarly argued that a lack of autonomy over work timing and methods can be compensated for by other positive aspects of work design, including high levels of accountability (because employees can influence decisions), high skill variety and task identity (because employees are involved in repair and improvement), high levels of feedback (because employees have access to information), and high work facilitation (because lean production emphasizes the removal of obstacles to help performance). These authors draw on ideas of gestalt cognition, that individuals store, process, and recall information in a configural or schematic form (Fiske & Taylor 1991), to suggest that employees working in lean systems experience motivation not by "summing their isolated evaluations of individual practices;" they instead "make a complex and holistic evaluation by giving each job characteristic meaning

from the other practices with which it occurs" (Treville & Antonakis 2006, p. 115). In essence, the overall positive work design configuration under lean production is argued to be motivating despite low job autonomy.

Altogether, these perspectives raise an intriguing set of questions about the motivational properties of job designs in an enabling bureaucracy. Adler (2012, p. 248) has argued that these systems can be motivating, although in a study of enabling bureaucracy among software developers, some embraced the approach ("In this business, you've got to be exact, and the process ensures that we are. You have to get out of hacker mode!") whereas other developers felt alienated by the bureaucracy ("Programmers like to program. They never like to document."). Research is needed to understand whether, how, and which employees are motivated under enabling bureaucracy forms, or whether and how creativity, proactivity, and other outcomes are jeopardized by the high level of formal control in these systems. Studies of lean production have shown varied results (see Cullinane et al. 2013), from mixed effects on work characteristics with no net impact on strain (Jackson & Mullarkey 2000) to outright negative effects on both work characteristics and strain (Parker 2003). No clear conclusions can be drawn, but the question of whether a supportive context can substitute for autonomy is a critical one.

High-reliability
organizing: an
approach to obtaining
nearly error-free
operations within a
complex and
hazardous
environment

High-reliability organizing. Yet another way to resolve the tension between control and flexibility is high-reliability organizing. Classic examples of high reliability organizations (HROs) are nuclear power plants, air traffic control systems, and space shuttles. In these environments, the tension between control and flexibility often manifests as a tension between safety and service.

Scholars (e.g., Roberts 1990) have identified various elements that are essential for effective HROs, including a strategic focus on safety, careful attention to procedures, limited trial-and-error learning, continuous training, and strong safety cultures. From a work design perspective, Weick et al. (2008) proposed the importance of the underspecification of structures for aiding flexibility. Underspecification of structures refers to the subordination of hierarchical authority structures during critical events, such that decisions can be made by whoever has the expertise rather than whoever has the highest rank. For example, on the flight deck of an aircraft carrier out at sea, when an aircraft is landing or departing, any person on the deck "can call it foul" and make decisions (Roberts et al. 1994, p. 622).

A further example of HROs is the effective incident command systems in which public safety professionals such as firefighters manage the temporary control systems for dealing with emergencies (Bigley & Roberts 2001). These systems are highly bureaucratic, with extensive rules and procedures, functional division of labor, specialized job roles, and a clear hierarchy of positions. The incident commander is the highest-ranking position, and the person in this role is responsible for all activities that take place at an incident. Nevertheless, this high-control system can also be extremely flexible and enable reliable performance under challenging circumstances. Flexibility is enabled by the structure that develops at the scene. The incident commander is the first person to arrive, and this individual builds the structure from that point. In the words of one chief, "I go in. I've got my hat on. I'm the incident commander. I'm also the operations chief and also the division supervisor. And until that thing gets big enough to where I'm dividing it, I wear all those hats" (Bigley & Roberts 2001, p. 1287). The structure can then change over time as higher-ranking officers arrive. In addition, because roles are clear and well defined, it is easy for individuals to engage in role switching according to needs during an incident. A further element that supports flexibility is that supervisors transfer authority to those with the expertise and allow individuals with sufficient experience to improvise or depart from standard procedures when required. Shared mental models among members are also important: Dysfunction can occur when individuals are empowered to improvise yet lack the knowledge of or concern for bigger-picture perspectives (Bigley & Roberts 2001).

A related example of a clear hierarchy of roles that nonetheless allows flexibility in the moment is described in Klein et al.'s (2006) analysis of emergency medical teams. These teams face unpredictable patient demands and constantly changing team composition, yet they also need to achieve highly reliable performance and to train and develop novices. Control and flexibility are achieved when clearly designated leaders dynamically delegate the leadership role to junior leaders but also withdraw the leadership role according to the urgency and novelty of the situation. Dynamic delegation is supported by shared routines and values among team members.

Achieving control and flexibility via HROs involves a work design that changes quite dramatically according to the situation. Theories of work design, as well as the dominant methodological approaches, do not currently cater to such dynamism.

METHODOLOGICAL DIRECTIONS

A strength of research in this field is that quasi-experiments and field experiments have often been used to evaluate work redesign. Rigorous evaluation studies continue to be important for informing practice and policy: It is one thing to demonstrate a causal relationship between variables, and another to show that work redesign can be successfully implemented with positive outcomes. Also important are true longitudinal studies (in which all variables are assessed at each time wave) to investigate reverse causality, reciprocal effects, and the timing of processes (Parker et al. 2014). To understand whether work design has consequences for individual development, very long term studies are also required.

Thus far, with the exception of a burgeoning number of within-person diary studies, multilevel processes have not been well articulated or investigated in the work design literature. As noted by Morgeson & Campion (2003), work design theory tends to focus on a job, yet studies are typically operationalized at the level of an individual. Multilevel approaches can be used to identify job-level versus individual-level sources of variation in job perceptions. For example, aggregating perceived work characteristics across job incumbents in the same job can help to reduce idiosyncratic individual influences on job perceptions. A further important multilevel approach is to examine the top-down processes by which individuals' perceptions of work characteristics are formed, which will allow the opportunity to better understand the role of context. Researchers also need to assess the effects of work design at higher levels to identify possible unintended consequences (Johns 2010), such as team autonomy improving team performance but impairing overall system performance. Related to this point is the need to understand the potential role of work design in facilitating higher-level organizing, for example, how team-level autonomy might enhance organization-level ambidexterity.

A related methodological direction is to consider units of analysis other than a whole job, such as work design at the daily level, work design at the event level, work design at the project level, and even work design across a career. For example, in high-reliability contexts, it might be that team effectiveness is most strongly determined by individuals' autonomy during critical events rather than by their general or average level of job autonomy.

Applying a configuration approach is likely a fruitful way forward in studies of work design (Johns 2010, Treville & Antonakis 2006). From this perspective, work designs can be understood as bundles of interconnected work characteristics, rather than discrete job aspects, that cause particular outcomes. The assumption is that the bundle accounts for more variance (and possibly different outcomes) than discrete job aspects do, perhaps because the elements co-occur or operate together in meaningful ways, or perhaps because individuals perceive work design in a holistic way

rather than as separate elements. For example, high significance—low autonomy configurations might occur because autonomy is reduced when a job is so important that the cost of error is very high, as occurs when firewalls are introduced to prevent employees from having direct contact with customers (Johns 2010). Regression approaches do not allow for the possibility that job characteristics might have different meanings depending on what attributes they co-occur with. Configurational approaches also allow for the possibility of equifinality; for example, work design research has tended to assume there is one optimal sociotechnical systems design—the autonomous work group—but it might be that different configurations of social and technical systems are compatible with different types of organizational strategies. A configuration approach is also likely a useful way to examine work organization archetypes or combinations of work design and broader organizational systems (Cordery & Parker 2007).

Finally, Barley & Kunda (2001) argued that there are insufficient data on what people actually do in their work. Ethnographic studies, participant observation, and rich qualitative studies that provide detailed contextualized accounts of work in situ, such as that by Klein et al. (2006), will likely be especially helpful in understanding what actually happens in contemporary jobs.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Work design as a field of theoretical inquiry was largely developed as a response to the technically oriented design of demotivating and alienating jobs that emerged after the industrial revolution. As such, it is unsurprising that work design research has predominantly focused on motivation. Indeed, the dominant work design model, the JCM, was articulated in a paper entitled "Motivation Through the Design of Work: Test of a Theory" (Hackman & Oldham 1976). Work design continues to feature in the motivation section of articles [for example, job design is labeled as a first-generation motivation theory in Miner's (2003) review of organizational theories]. As outlined in this article, motivational work design theory has been extended in various ways, such as by employing proactive and relational approaches to designing work (Grant & Parker 2009), and can be extended further, such as by investigating how work design might affect goal generation, goal striving, and self-regulation. Importantly, beyond refining theory, more needs to be done to embed the core principles of motivational work design in policy and practice. Large numbers of simplified, deskilled jobs still exist, and the gap between "good jobs" and "bad jobs" continues to grow.

But designing work for motivation is not enough. In the context of globalization and rapid technological change, we are witnessing an increase in challenge and complexity in many jobs. The second part of this article argues that work design for other critical ends warrants mainstream attention. First, it is important to give more attention to how work design can support individuals' cognitive, identity, and moral development. The analysis of work design as a vehicle for learning and development hopefully illustrates the untapped potential of work design. The nature and organization of individuals' work roles may have profound consequences, maybe even as extreme as reducing individuals' chance of dementia as they age or, at the aggregate level, helping nations to meet projected skill gaps.

Second, although considering work design from a health perspective has a long history, we need to extend this perspective given the demands many employees increasingly face in their work lives. Work redesign might promote physical and mental health in more ways than hitherto considered, serving not only as a primary intervention but also as a secondary intervention that boosts employees' active coping and as a tertiary intervention that facilitates recovery. Hackman's (2009) plea for scholars to focus on changing the situation and thereby promoting individual growth, instead of solely changing the individual and thereby promoting adaptation, reiterates the importance of work design for health and well-being.

Third, this article considers how we might design work for control and flexibility at the same time. Different possibilities exist, from combining enriched work designs with informal control mechanisms (contextual ambidexterity); to combining low job autonomy with positive work characteristics, participation in decision making, and a supportive context (enabling bureaucracy); to creating a bureaucratic structure with roles that can be flexibly deployed and dynamically altered (high-reliability organizing). The pros and cons of these different work design options across various situations are currently unexplored. The need to understand how to design jobs that support the dual outcomes of control and flexibility will become more pressing given the growing application of bureaucratic principles to professional settings such as health care.

In the final section, beyond the frequent plea for rigorous, multilevel longitudinal studies, this article recommends the consideration of units of analysis other than a whole job, a configurational approach to work design, and contextualized studies of contemporary jobs. Work design research has a long and important history. It also has a bright future, but we need to go beyond the dominant motivational paradigm.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The author is not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I sincerely appreciate the helpful feedback on this article from my colleagues, who are also some of the shining stars in the field of work design: Michael Frese, Adam Grant, Gary Johns, Fred Morgeson, and Yitzhak Fried. I am also grateful to my academic mentors and role models: John Cordery, who launched my interest in this field, and Toby Wall, whose passion for making jobs better inspired me to turn this interest into a career.

LITERATURE CITED

Adler PS. 2012. Perspective—the sociological ambivalence of bureaucracy: from Weber via Gouldner to Marx. Org. Sci. 23:244–66

Adler PS, Borys B. 1996. Two types of bureaucracy: enabling and coercive. Admin. Sci. Q. 41:61–89

Adler PS, Chen CX. 2011. Combining creativity and control: understanding individual motivation in largescale collaborative creativity. Account. Organ. Soc. 36:63–85

Andel R, Crowe M, Pedersen NL, Mortimer J, Crimmins E. 2005. Complexity of work and risk of Alzheimer's disease: a population-based study of Swedish twins. J. Gerontol. 60:251–58

Argyris C. 1957. Personality and Organization: The Conflict Between System and the Individual. Oxford, UK: Harpers

Bakker AB, Demerouti E. 2007. The job demands–resources model: state of the art. J. Manag. Psychol. 22:309–28

Bargh JA, Chartrand TL. 1999. The unbearable automaticity of being. Am. Psychol. 54:462-79

Barker JR. 1993. Tightening the iron cage: concertive control in self-managing teams. *Admin. Sci. Q.* 38:408–37 Barley SR, Kunda G. 2001. Bringing work back in. *Organ. Sci.* 12:76–95

Beal DJ, Trougakos JP, Weiss HM, Green SG. 2006. Episodic processes in emotional labor: perceptions of affective delivery and regulation strategies. J. Appl. Psychol. 91:1053–65

Belkic KL, Landsbergis PA, Schnall PL, Baker D. 2004. Is job strain a major source of cardiovascular disease risk? Scand. 7. Work Environ. Health 30:85–128

Bellé N. 2013. Experimental evidence on the relationship between public service motivation and job performance. Public Admin. Rev. 73:143–53

- Bigley GA, Roberts KH. 2001. The incident command system: high-reliability organizing for complex and volatile task environments. *Acad. Manag.* 7. 44:1281–99
- Biron M, Bamberger P. 2010. The impact of structural empowerment on individual well-being and performance: taking agent preferences, self-efficacy and operational constraints into account. *Hum. Relat.* 63:163–91
- Bledow R, Frese M, Anderson N, Erez M, Farr J. 2009. A dialectic perspective on innovation: conflicting demands, multiple pathways, and ambidexterity. *Ind. Organ. Psychol.* 2:305–37
- Bond FW, Flaxman PE. 2006. The ability of psychological flexibility and job control to predict learning, job performance, and mental health. *J. Organ. Behav. Manag.* 26:113–30
- Bosma HA, Kuunen ES. 2001. Determinants and mechanisms in ego identity development: a review and synthesis. Dev. Rev. 32:307–88
- Bowe J, Bowe M, Streeter S. Murphy D, eds. 2000. Gig: Americans Talk About Their Jobs at the Turn of the Millennium. New York: Random House
- Brown SL, Nesse RM, Vinokur AD, Smith DM. 2003. Providing social support may be more beneficial than receiving it: results from a prospective study of mortality. Psychol. Sci. 14:320–27
- Bunderson S, Thompson JA. 2009. The call of the wild: zookeepers, callings, and the double-edged sword of deeply meaningful work. Admin. Sci. Q. 54:32–57
- Burke CS, Stagl KC, Klein C, Goodwin GF, Salas E, Halpin SM. 2006. What type of leadership behaviors are functional in teams? A meta-analysis. *Leadersh. Q.* 17:288–307
- Burns T, Stalker GM. 1961. The Management of Innovation. London: Tavistock
- Campion MA. 1988. Interdisciplinary approaches to job design: a constructive replication with extensions. J. Appl. Psychol. 73:467–81
- Campion MA, Medsker GJ, Higgs AC. 1993. Relations between work group characteristics and effectiveness: implications for designing effective work groups. Pers. Psychol. 46:823–50
- Campion MA, Stevens MJ. 1991. Neglected questions in job design: how people design jobs, task-job predictability, and influence of training. J. Bus. Psychol. 6:169–91
- Cohen SG, Bailey DE. 1997. What makes teams work: group effectiveness research from the shop floor to the executive suite. J. Manag. 23:239–90
- Combs J, Liu Y, Hall A, Ketchen D. 2006. How much do high-performance work practices matter? A metaanalysis of their effects on organizational performance. Pers. Psychol. 59:501–28
- Converse PD, DeShon RP. 2009. A tale of two tasks: reversing the self-regulatory resource depletion effect. J. Appl. Psychol. 94:1318–24
- Cordery JL, Morrison D, Wright BM, Wall TD. 2010. The impact of autonomy and task uncertainty on team performance: a longitudinal field study. J. Organ. Behav. 31:240–58
- Cordery J, Parker SK. 2007. Work organization. In Oxford Handbook of Human Resource Management, ed. P Boxall, J Purcell, P Wright, pp. 187–209. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Crawford ER, LePine JA, Rich BL. 2010. Linking job demands and resources to employee engagement and burnout: A theoretical extension and meta-analytic test. J. Appl. Psychol. 95:834–48
- Cullinane SJ, Bosak J, Flood PC, Demerouti E. 2013. Job design under lean manufacturing and its impact on employee outcomes. Organ. Psychol. Rev. 3:41–61
- Daniels K. 2006. Rethinking job characteristics in work stress research. Hum. Relat. 59:267–90
- Daniels K, Beesley N, Wimalasiri V, Cheyne A. 2013. Problem solving and well-being: exploring the instrumental role of job control and social support. *J. Manag.* 39:1016–43
- Davis GF. 2010. Job design meets organizational sociology. J. Organ. Behav. 31:302-8
- Day DV, Harrison MM, Halpin S. 2009. An Integrative Approach to Leader Development: Connecting Adult Development, Identity, and Expertise. New York: Routledge
- De Lange AH, Taris TW, Kompier MA, Houtman I, Bongers PM. 2003. The very best of the millennium: longitudinal research and the demand-control-(support) model. *J. Occup. Health Psychol.* 8:282–305
- Demerouti E, Bakker AB. 2011. The job demands–resources model: challenges for future research. *J. Ind. Psychol.* 37:1–9
- Dierdorff EC, Morgeson FP. 2013. Getting what the occupation gives: exploring multilevel links between work design and occupational values. *Pers. Psychol.* 66:687–721

- Elsbach KD, Hargadon AB. 2006. Enhancing creativity through "mindless" work: a framework of workday design. Organ. Sci. 17:470–83
- Erez M. 2010. Culture and job design. J. Organ. Behav. 31:389-400
- Eriksson-Zetterquist U, Lindberg K, Styhre A. 2009. When the good times are over: professionals encountering new technology. *Hum. Relat.* 62:1145–70
- Fay D, Sonnentag S. 2002. Rethinking the effects of stressors: a longitudinal study on personal initiative. 7. Occup. Health Psychol. 7:221–34
- Fisher CD, Minbashian A, Beckmann N, Wood RE. 2013. Task appraisals, emotions, and performance goal orientation. J. Appl. Psychol. 98:364–73
- Fiske ST, Taylor SE. 1991. Social Cognition. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Frese M, Garst H, Fay D. 2007. Making things happen: reciprocal relationships between work characteristics and personal initiative in a four-wave longitudinal structural equation model. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 92:1084–102
- Frese M, Zapf D. 1994. Action as the core of work psychology: a German approach. In *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, ed. MD Dunnette, HC Triandis, LM Hough, pp. 271–340. Palo Alto, CA: Consult. Psychol. 2nd ed.
- Fried Y, Grant A, Levi A, Hadani, Slowik LH. 2007. Placing the job characteristics model in context: the contributing role of time. *7. Organ. Behav.* 28:911–27
- Gagné M, Deci EL. 2005. Self-determination theory and work motivation. J. Organ. Behav. 26:331-62
- Gaille D. 2013. Direct participation and the quality of work. Hum. Relat. 66:453-73
- Gibson CB, Birkinshaw J. 2004. The antecedents, consequences, and mediating role of organizational ambidexterity. *Acad. Manag* 7, 47:209–26
- Gino F, Schweitzer ME, Mead NL, Ariely D. 2011. Unable to resist temptation: how self-control depletion promotes unethical behavior. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Proc. 115:191–203
- Grant AM. 2007. Relational job design and the motivation to make a prosocial difference. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 32:393–417
- Grant AM. 2012a. Giving time, time after time: work design and sustained employee participation in corporate volunteering. Acad. Manag. Rev. 37:589–615
- Grant AM. 2012b. Leading with meaning: beneficiary contact, prosocial impact, and the performance effects of transformational leadership. *Acad. Manag.* 7. 55:458–76
- Grant AM, Campbell EM, Chen G, Cottone K, Lapedis D, Lee K. 2007. Impact and the art of motivation maintenance: the effects of contact with beneficiaries on persistence behavior. Organ. Behav. Human Decis. Proc. 103:53–67
- Grant AM, Fried Y, Parker SK, Frese M. 2010. Putting job design in context: introduction to the special issue. 7. Organ. Behav. 31:145–57
- Grant AM, Parker SK. 2009. Redesigning work design theories: the rise of relational and proactive perspectives. Acad. Manag. Ann. 3:317–75
- Grolnick WS, Deci EL, Ryan RM. 1997. Internalization within the family: the self-determination theory perspective. In *Parenting and Children's Internalization of Values: A Handbook of Contemporary Theory*, ed. JE Grusec, L Kuczynski, pp. 135–61. New York: Wiley
- Haas MR. 2010. The double-edged swords of autonomy and external knowledge: analyzing team effectiveness in a multinational organization. *Acad. Manag.* 7. 53:989–1008
- Hackman JR. 2009. The perils of positivity. J. Organ. Behav. 2:309–19
- Hackman JR, Oldham GR. 1976. Motivation through the design of work: test of a theory. Organ. Behav. Hum. Perform. 16:250–79
- Hall DTT, Heras ML. 2010. Reintegrating job design and career theory: creating not just good jobs but smart jobs. *J. Organ. Behav.* 31:448–62
- Hannah ST, Avolio BJ, May DR. 2011. Moral maturation and moral conation: a capacity approach to explaining moral thought and action. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 36:663–85
- Higgins ET. 1998. Promotion and prevention: regulatory focus as a motivational principle. Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 30:1–46
- Hobfoll SE. 1989. Conservation of resources: a new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *Am. Psychol.* 44:513–24 Holman D. 2013. Job types and job quality in Europe. *Hum. Relat.* 66:475–502

- Humphrey SE, Nahrgang JD, Morgeson FP. 2007. Integrating motivational, social, and contextual work design features: a meta-analytic summary and theoretical extension of the work design literature. J. Appl. Psychol. 92:1332–56
- Ibarra H. 1999. Provisional selves: experimenting with image and identity in professional adaptation. Admin. Sci. Q. 44:764–91
- Ingvaldsen JA, Rolfsen M. 2012. Autonomous work groups and the challenge of inter-group coordination. Hum. Relat. 65:861–81
- Jackson PR, Mullarkey S. 2000. Lean production teams and health in garment manufacture. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 5:231–45
- Johns G. 2010. Some unintended consequences of job design. 7. Organ. Behav. 31:361-69
- Jones TM, Ryan LV. 1998. The effect of organizational forces on individual morality: judgment, moral approbation, and behavior. Bus. Ethics Q. 8:431–45
- Kalleberg AL. 2011. Good Jobs, Bad Jobs: The Rise of Polarized and Precarious Employment Systems in the United States, 1970s to 2000s. New York: Russell Sage Found.
- Kanfer R. 1990. Motivation and individual differences in learning: an integration of developmental, differential and cognitive perspectives. Learn. Individ. Differ. 2:221–39
- Karasek RA Jr. 1979. Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain: implications for job redesign. Admin. Sci. Q. 24:285–308
- Karasek RA, Theorell T. 1990. Healthy Work: Stress, Productivity, and the Reconstruction of Working Life. New York: Basic
- Karp A, Andel R, Parker MG, Wang HX, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. 2009. Mentally stimulating activities at work during midlife and dementia risk after age 75: follow-up study from the Kungsholmen Project. Am. 7. Geriatr. Psychiatry 17:227–36
- Kelly EL, Moen P, Tranby E. 2011. Changing workplaces to reduce work-family conflict schedule control in a white-collar organization. *Am. Sociol. Rev.* 76:265–90
- Kernis MH. 2000. Substitute needs and the distinction between fragile and secure high self-esteem. *Psychol. Ing.* 11:298–300
- Kirkman BL, Rosen B, Tesluk PE, Gibson CB. 2004. The impact of team empowerment on virtual team performance: the moderating role of face-to-face interaction. *Acad. Manag. J.* 47:175–92
- Klein KJ, Ziegert JC, Knight AP, Xiao Y. 2006. Dynamic delegation: shared, hierarchical, and deindividualized leadership in extreme action teams. *Admin. Sci. Q.* 51:590–621
- Kopelman RE. 2006. Job redesign and productivity: a review of the evidence. Natl. Product. Rev. 4:237-55
- Lanaj K, Hollenbeck J, Ilgen D, Barnes C, Harmon S. 2013. The double-edged sword of decentralized planning in multiteam systems. *Acad. Manag. J.* 56:735–57
- Langfred CW. 2000. The paradox of self-management: individual and group autonomy in work groups. 7. Organ. Behav. 21:563–85
- Langfred CW. 2005. Autonomy and performance in teams: the multilevel moderating effect of task interdependence. J. Manag. 31:513–29
- Langfred CW, Moye NA. 2004. Effects of task autonomy on performance: an extended model considering motivational, informational, and structural mechanisms. 7. Appl. Psychol. 89:934–45
- Leach DJ, Wall TD, Jackson PR. 2003. The effect of empowerment on job knowledge: an empirical test involving operators of complex technology. *7. Occup. Organ. Psychol.* 76:27–52
- Leana C, Appelbaum E, Shevchuk I. 2009. Work process and quality of care in early childhood education: the role of job crafting. Acad. Manag. J. 52:1169–92
- LePine JA, Podsakoff NP, LePine MA. 2005. A meta-analytic test of the challenge stressor-hindrance stressor framework: an explanation for inconsistent relationships among stressors and performance. Acad. Manag. 7. 48:764–75
- Lord RG, Hannah ST, Jennings PL. 2011. A framework for understanding leadership and individual requisite complexity. Organ. Psychol. Rev. 1:104–27
- Manyika J, Lund S, Auguste B, Ramaswamy S. 2012. Help wanted: the future of work in advanced economies. Disc. Pap., McKinsey Glob. Inst., New York
- Maynard MT, Gilson LL, Mathieu JE. 2012. Empowerment—fad or fab? A multilevel review of the past two decades of research. *J. Manag.* 38:1231–81

- Meyer JP, Becker TE, Vandenberghe C. 2004. Employee commitment and motivation: a conceptual analysis and integrative model. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 89:991–1007
- Miner JB. 2003. The rated importance, scientific validity, and practical usefulness of organizational behavior theories: a quantitative review. *Acad. Manag. Learn. Educ.* 2:250–68
- Morgeson FP, Campion MA. 2003. Work design. In *Handbook of Psychology*, Vol. 12: *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, ed. WC Borman, DR Ilgen, RJ Klimoski, IB Weiner, pp. 423–52. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley
- Morgeson FP, Humphrey SE. 2006. The Work Design Questionnaire (WDQ): developing and validating a comprehensive measure for assessing job design and the nature of work. 7. Appl. Psychol. 91:1321–39
- Morgeson FP, Humphrey SE. 2008. Job and team design: toward a more integrative conceptualization of work design. In *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management*, Vol. 27, ed. JJ Martocchio, pp. 39–92. Bingley, UK: Emerald
- Morgeson FP, Johnson MD, Campion MA, Medsker GJ, Mumford TV. 2006. Understanding reactions to job redesign: a quasi-experimental investigation of the moderating effects of organizational context on perceptions of performance behavior. *Pers. Psychol.* 59:333–63
- Moshman D. 1998. Cognitive development beyond childhood. In *Handbook of Child Psychology*, Vol. 2: *Cognition*, *Perception and Language*, ed. W Damon, D Kuhn, RS Siegler, pp. 947–78. New York: Wiley. 5th ed.
- Muraven M, Baumeister RF. 2000. Self-regulation and depletion of limited resources: does self-control resemble a muscle? Psychol. Bull. 126:247–59
- Nahrgang JD, Morgeson FP, Hofmann DA. 2011. A meta-analytic investigation of the link between job demands, job resources, burnout, engagement, and safety outcomes. J. Appl. Psychol. 96:71–94
- Ohly S, Fritz C. 2009. Work characteristics, challenge appraisal, creativity, and proactive behavior: a multi-level study. 7. Organ. Behav. 31:543–65
- Oldham GR, Hackman JR. 2010. Not what it was and not what it will be: the future of job design research. 7. Organ. Behav. 31:463–79
- O'Reilly C, Tushman M. 2007. Ambidexterity as a dynamic capability: resolving the innovator's dilemma. Res. Pap. 1963, Grad. Sch. Bus., Stanford Univ. http://ssrn.com/abstract=978493
- Osterman P, Shulman B. 2011. *Good Jobs America: Making Work Better for Everyone*. New York: Russell Sage Found.
- Oyserman D. 2001. Self-concept and identity. In Blackwell Handbook of Social Psychology, ed. A Tesser, N Schwarz, pp. 499–517. Malden, MA: Blackwell
- Parker SK. 1998. Enhancing role breadth self-efficacy: the roles of job enrichment and other organizational interventions. 7. Appl. Psychol. 83:835–52
- Parker SK. 2003. Longitudinal effects of lean production on employee outcomes and the mediating role of work characteristics. J. Appl. Psychol. 88:620–34
- Parker SK, Andrei D, Li W. 2014. An overdue overhaul: revamping work design theory from a time perspective. In *Time and Work*, Vol. 1, ed. AJ Shipp, Y Fried. East Sussex, UK: Psychol. Press. In press
- Parker SK, Axtell CM. 2001. Seeing another viewpoint: antecedents and outcomes of employee perspective taking. Acad. Manag. 7, 44:1085–100
- Parker SK, Bindl U, Strauss K. 2010. Making things happen: a model of proactive motivation. J. Manag. 36:827–56
- Parker SK, Johnson A, Collins C, Nguyen H. 2013. Making the most of structural support: moderating influence of employees' clarity and negative affect. Acad. Manag. 7. 56:867–92
- Parker SK, Ohly S. 2008. Designing motivating jobs: an expanded framework for linking work characteristics and motivation. In Work Motivation: Past, Present and Future, ed. R Kanfer, G Chen, RD Pritchard, pp. 233–84. New York/Abingdon, UK: Routledge
- Parker SK, Turner N, Griffin MA. 2003. Designing healthy work. In *Health and Safety in Organizations: A Multilevel Perspective*, ed. DA Hofmann, LE Tetrick, pp. 91–130. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass
- Parker SK, Wall T. 1998. Job and Work Design: Organizing Work to Promote Well-Being and Effectiveness. London: Sage
- Parker SK, Wall TD, Cordery JL. 2001. Future work design research and practice: towards an elaborated model of work design. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 74:413–40

- Payne J, Keep E. 2003. Re-visiting the Nordic approaches to work re-organization and job redesign: lessons for UK skills policy. *Policy Stud.* 24:205–25
- Quinn RE, Rohrbaugh J. 1983. A spatial model of effectiveness criteria: towards a competing values approach to organizational analysis. *Manag. Sci.* 29:363–77
- Raisch S, Birkinshaw J. 2008. Organizational ambidexterity: antecedents, outcomes, and moderators. *J. Manag.* 34:375–409
- Raja U, Johns G. 2010. The joint effects of personality and job scope on in-role performance, citizenship behaviors, and creativity. Hum. Relat. 63:981–1005
- Roberts KH. 1990. Some characteristics of high reliability organizations. Organ. Sci. 1:160-77
- Roberts KH, Stout SK, Halpern JJ. 1994. Decision dynamics in two high reliability military organizations. Manag. Sci. 40:614–24
- Schaubroeck J, Lam SS, Xie JL. 2000. Collective efficacy versus self-efficacy in coping responses to stressors and control: a cross-cultural study. 7. Appl. Psychol. 85:512–25
- Schooler C, Mulatu MS, Oates G. 2004. Occupational self-direction, intellectual functioning, and self-directed orientation in older workers: findings and implications for individuals and societies. Am. J. Sociol. 110:161– 97
- Smith W, Lewis M. 2011. Toward a theory of paradox: a dynamic equilibrium model of organizing. Acad. Manag. Rev. 36:381–403
- Smulders PG, Nijhuis FJ. 1999. The job demands–job control model and absence behaviour: results of a 3-year longitudinal study. *Work Stress* 13:115–31
- Sonnentag S, Frese M. 2003. Stress in organizations. In Handbook of Psychology, Vol. 12: Industrial and Organizational Psychology, ed. WC Borman, DR Ilgen, RJ Klimoski, IB Weiner, pp. 453–91. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley
- Sonnentag S, Zijlstra FRH. 2006. Job characteristics and off-job activities as predictors of need for recovery, well-being, and fatigue. 7. Appl. Psychol. 91:330–50
- Spector PE. 1998. A control model of the job stress process. In Theories of Organizational Stress, ed. CL Cooper, pp. 153–69. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Stewart GL, Barrick MR. 2000. Team structure and performance: assessing the mediating role of intrateam process and the moderating role of task type. Acad. Manag. J. 43:135–48
- Tornau K, Frese M. 2013. Construct clean-up in proactivity research: a meta-analysis on the nomological net of work-related proactivity concepts and their incremental validities. *Appl. Psychol.* 62:44–96
- Treville S, Antonakis J. 2006. Could lean production job design be intrinsically motivating? Contextual, configurational, and levels-of-analysis issues. *7. Oper. Manag.* 24:99–123
- Treviño LK. 1986. Ethical decision making in organizations: a person-situation interactionist model. Acad. Manag. Rev. 11:601–17
- Treviño LK, den Nieuwenboer NA, Kish-Gephart JJ. 2014. (Un)ethical behavior in organizations. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 65:In press
- Vandivier K. 1972. The aircraft brake scandal. Harper's Mag. 244:45-52
- Van der Doef M, Maes S. 1999. The job demand-control (-support) model and psychological well-being: a review of 20 years of empirical research. *Work Stress* 13:87–114
- Vidal M. 2013. Low-autonomy work and bad jobs in post-Fordist capitalism. Hum. Relat. 66:587-612
- Wall TD, Jackson PR. 1995. New manufacturing initiatives and shopfloor work design. In *The Changing Nature of Work*, ed. A Howard, pp. 139–74. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass
- Warr PB. 2007. Work, Happiness, and Unhappiness. New York: Routledge
- Weick KE, Sutcliffe KM, Obstfeld D. 2008. Organizing for high reliability: processes of collective mindfulness. Crisis Manag. 3:81–123
- Wilson KL, Rest JR, Boldizar JP, Deemer DK. 1992. Moral judgment development: the effects of education and occupation. Soc. Justice Res. 5:31–48
- World Health Organ. 1948. Preamble to the Constitution of the World Health Organization as adopted by the International Health Conference, New York, 19–22 June, 1946. Signed 22 July 1946 by represent. 61 states (Off. Records World Health Organ., No. 2, p. 100). Entered into force 7 April 1948
- Xanthopoulou D, Bakker AB, Demerouti E, Schaufeli WB. 2007. The role of personal resources in the job demands–resources model. Int. 7. Stress Manag. 14:121–41



Annual Review of Psychology

Volume 64, 2013

Contents

Prefatory
Shifting Gears: Seeking New Approaches for Mind/Brain Mechanisms Michael S. Gazzaniga
Biological Bases of Behavior
The Endocannabinoid System and the Brain *Raphael Mechoulam and Linda A. Parker
Vision
Synesthesia **Jamie Ward** 49
Scene Perception, Event Perception, Object Recognition
Visual Aesthetics and Human Preference Stephen E. Palmer, Karen B. Schloss, and Jonathan Sammartino
Attention and Performance
Detecting Consciousness: A Unique Role for Neuroimaging Adrian M. Owen
Executive Functions Adele Diamond
Animal Learning and Behavior
The Neuroscience of Learning: Beyond the Hebbian Synapse C.R. Gallistel and Louis D. Matzel 169
Evolutionary Psychology
Evolutionary Psychology: New Perspectives on Cognition and Motivation Leda Cosmides and John Tooby
Origins of Human Cooperation and Morality
Michael Tomasello and Amrisha Vaish 231

Language and Communication
Gesture's Role in Speaking, Learning, and Creating Language Susan Goldin-Meadow and Martha Wagner Alibali
Nonverbal and Verbal Communication
The Antecedents and Consequences of Human Behavioral Mimicry Tanya L. Chartrand and Jessica L. Lakin
Intergroup Relations, Stigma, Stereotyping, Prejudice, Discrimination
Sexual Prejudice Gregory M. Herek and Kevin A. McLemore
Social Neuroscience
A Cultural Neuroscience Approach to the Biosocial Nature of the Human Brain Shihui Han, Georg Northoff, Kai Vogeley, Bruce E. Wexler, Shinobu Kitayama, and Michael E.W. Varnum
Organizational Climate/Culture
Organizational Climate and Culture Benjamin Schneider, Mark G. Ehrhart, and William H. Macey
Industrial Psychology/Human Resource Management
Employee Recruitment **James A. Breaugh** 389
Learning and Performance in Educational Settings
Self-Regulated Learning: Beliefs, Techniques, and Illusions *Robert A. Bjork, John Dunlosky, and Nate Kornell** 417
Teaching of Subject Matter
Student Learning: What Has Instruction Got to Do With It? Hee Seung Lee and John R. Anderson
Health Psychology
Bringing the Laboratory and Clinic to the Community: Mobile Technologies for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention Robert M. Kaplan and Arthur A. Stone
Research Methodology
Multivariate Statistical Analyses for Neuroimaging Data Anthony R. McIntosh and Bratislav Mišić 499

Social Network Analysis: Foundations and Frontiers on Advantage *Ronald S. Burt, Martin Kilduff, and Stefano Tasselli	527
Indexes	
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 54–64	549
Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 54–64	554
Errata	

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Psychology* articles may be found at http://psych.AnnualReviews.org/errata.shtml



It's about time. Your time. It's time well spent.

New From Annual Reviews:

Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior

Volume 1 • March 2014 • Online & In Print • http://orgpsych.annualreviews.org

Editor: Frederick P. Morgeson, The Eli Broad College of Business, Michigan State University

The Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior is devoted to publishing reviews of the industrial and organizational psychology, human resource management, and organizational behavior literature. Topics for review include motivation, selection, teams, training and development, leadership, job performance, strategic HR, cross-cultural issues, work attitudes, entrepreneurship, affect and emotion, organizational change and development, gender and diversity, statistics and research methodologies, and other emerging topics.

Complimentary online access to the first volume will be available until March 2015.

TABLE OF CONTENTS:

- An Ounce of Prevention Is Worth a Pound of Cure: Improving Research Quality Before Data Collection, Herman Aguinis, Robert J. Vandenberg
- Burnout and Work Engagement: The JD-R Approach, Arnold B. Bakker, Evangelia Demerouti, Ana Isabel Sanz-Vergel
- Compassion at Work, Jane E. Dutton, Kristina M. Workman, Ashley E. Hardin
- Constructively Managing Conflict in Organizations,
 Dean Tjosvold, Alfred S.H. Wong, Nancy Yi Feng Chen
- Coworkers Behaving Badly: The Impact of Coworker Deviant Behavior upon Individual Employees, Sandra L. Robinson, Wei Wang, Christian Kiewitz
- Delineating and Reviewing the Role of Newcomer Capital in Organizational Socialization, Talya N. Bauer, Berrin Erdogan
- Emotional Intelligence in Organizations, Stéphane Côté
- Employee Voice and Silence, Elizabeth W. Morrison
- Intercultural Competence, Kwok Leung, Soon Ang, Mei Ling Tan
- Learning in the Twenty-First-Century Workplace,
 Raymond A. Noe, Alena D.M. Clarke, Howard J. Klein
- Pay Dispersion, Jason D. Shaw
- Personality and Cognitive Ability as Predictors of Effective Performance at Work, Neal Schmitt

- Perspectives on Power in Organizations, Cameron Anderson, Sebastien Brion
- Psychological Safety: The History, Renaissance, and Future of an Interpersonal Construct, Amy C. Edmondson, Zhike Lei
- Research on Workplace Creativity: A Review and Redirection, Jing Zhou, Inga J. Hoever
- Talent Management: Conceptual Approaches and Practical Challenges, Peter Cappelli, JR Keller
- The Contemporary Career: A Work-Home Perspective, Jeffrey H. Greenhaus, Ellen Ernst Kossek
- The Fascinating Psychological Microfoundations of Strategy and Competitive Advantage, Robert E. Ployhart, Donald Hale, Jr.
- The Psychology of Entrepreneurship, Michael Frese, Michael M. Gielnik
- The Story of Why We Stay: A Review of Job Embeddedness, Thomas William Lee, Tyler C. Burch, Terence R. Mitchell
- What Was, What Is, and What May Be in OP/OB, Lyman W. Porter, Benjamin Schneider
- Where Global and Virtual Meet: The Value of Examining the Intersection of These Elements in Twenty-First-Century Teams, Cristina B. Gibson, Laura Huang, Bradley L. Kirkman, Debra L. Shapiro
- Work-Family Boundary Dynamics, Tammy D. Allen, Eunae Cho, Laurenz L. Meier

Access this and all other Annual Reviews journals via your institution at www.annualreviews.org.



New From Annual Reviews:

Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application

Volume 1 • Online January 2014 • http://statistics.annualreviews.org

Editor: Stephen E. Fienberg, Carnegie Mellon University Associate Editors: Nancy Reid. University of Toronto

Stephen M. Stigler, University of Chicago

The Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application aims to inform statisticians and quantitative methodologists, as well as all scientists and users of statistics about major methodological advances and the computational tools that allow for their implementation. It will include developments in the field of statistics, including theoretical statistical underpinnings of new methodology, as well as developments in specific application domains such as biostatistics and bioinformatics, economics, machine learning, psychology, sociology, and aspects of the physical sciences.

Complimentary online access to the first volume will be available until January 2015.

TABLE OF CONTENTS:

- What Is Statistics? Stephen E. Fienberg
- A Systematic Statistical Approach to Evaluating Evidence from Observational Studies, David Madigan, Paul E. Stang, Jesse A. Berlin, Martijn Schuemie, J. Marc Overhage, Marc A. Suchard, Bill Dumouchel, Abraham G. Hartzema, Patrick B. Ryan
- The Role of Statistics in the Discovery of a Higgs Boson, David A. van Dvk
- Brain Imaging Analysis, F. DuBois Bowman
- · Statistics and Climate, Peter Guttorp
- · Climate Simulators and Climate Projections, Jonathan Rougier, Michael Goldstein
- · Probabilistic Forecasting, Tilmann Gneiting, Matthias Katzfuss
- Bayesian Computational Tools, Christian P. Robert
- Bayesian Computation Via Markov Chain Monte Carlo, Radu V. Craiu, Jeffrey S. Rosenthal
- · Build, Compute, Critique, Repeat: Data Analysis with Latent Variable Models, David M. Blei
- Structured Regularizers for High-Dimensional Problems: Statistical and Computational Issues, Martin J. Wainwright

- High-Dimensional Statistics with a View Toward Applications in Biology, Peter Bühlmann, Markus Kalisch, Lukas Meier
- Next-Generation Statistical Genetics: Modeling, Penalization, and Optimization in High-Dimensional Data, Kenneth Lange, Jeanette C. Papp, Janet S. Sinsheimer, Eric M. Sobel
- Breaking Bad: Two Decades of Life-Course Data Analysis in Criminology, Developmental Psychology, and Beyond, Elena A. Erosheva, Ross L. Matsueda, Donatello Telesca
- · Event History Analysis, Niels Keiding
- Statistical Evaluation of Forensic DNA Profile Evidence, Christopher D. Steele, David J. Balding
- Using League Table Rankings in Public Policy Formation: Statistical Issues, Harvey Goldstein
- · Statistical Ecology, Ruth King
- · Estimating the Number of Species in Microbial Diversity Studies, John Bunge, Amy Willis, Fiona Walsh
- · Dynamic Treatment Regimes, Bibhas Chakraborty, Susan A. Murphy
- Statistics and Related Topics in Single-Molecule Biophysics. Hong Qian, S.C. Kou
- Statistics and Quantitative Risk Management for Banking and Insurance, Paul Embrechts, Marius Hofert

Access this and all other Annual Reviews journals via your institution at www.annualreviews.org.

